

On the Ginzburg-Landau Functional in the Surface Superconductivity Regime

Michele Correggi, Nicolas Rougerie

▶ To cite this version:

Michele Correggi, Nicolas Rougerie. On the Ginzburg-Landau Functional in the Surface Superconductivity Regime. 2013. hal-00859954v1

HAL Id: hal-00859954 https://hal.science/hal-00859954v1

Preprint submitted on 9 Sep 2013 (v1), last revised 12 Dec 2014 (v4)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

On the Ginzburg-Landau Functional in the Surface Superconductivity Regime

M. Correggi^a, N. Rougerie^b

 ^a Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Bologna, Piazza di Porta San Donato 5, 40126, Bologna, Italy.
 ^b Université de Grenoble 1 & CNRS, LPMMC
 Maison des Magistères CNRS, BP166, 38042 Grenoble Cedex, France.

September 9, 2013

Abstract

We present new estimates on the two-dimensional Ginzburg-Landau energy of a type II superconductor in an applied magnetic field varying between the second and third critical fields. In this regime, superconductivity is restricted to a thin layer along the boundary of the sample and we provide new energy lower bounds, proving that the Ginzburg-Landau energy is determined to leading order by the minimization of a simplified 1D functional in the direction perpendicular to the boundary. Estimates relating the density of the Ginzburg-Landau order parameter to that of the 1D problem follow. In the particular case of a disc sample, a refinement of our method leads to a pointwise estimate on the Ginzburg-Landau order parameter, thereby proving a strong form of uniformity of the surface superconductivity layer, related to a conjecture by Xing-Bin Pan.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Main Results 2.1 Generic domains: leading order of the energy 2.2 The case of the disc: refined energy estimates and Pan's conjecture	6 6 6
	2.3 Heuristic considerations and sketch of the method	9
3	Analysis of Effective One-dimensional Problems	11
	3.1 Preliminary analysis of the effective functionals	13
	3.2 The cost function in the half-plane case	16
	3.3 The cost function in the disc case	18
4	Energy Estimate for Generic Domains	21
	4.1 Restriction to the boundary layer and replacement of the vector potential	22
	4.2 Lower bound in the boundary layer	26
5	\mathbf{I}	28
	5.1 Energy upper bound	28
	5.2 Energy lower bound	29
	5.3 Uniform estimates on the density $ \Psi^{GL} ^2$	33
	5.4 Circulation estimate	34

\mathbf{A}	Appendix	35
	A.1 The one-dimensional Schrödinger operator $H_{k,\alpha}$	35
	A.2 Technical estimates of the one-dimensional density profiles	38

1 Introduction

The Ginzburg-Landau (GL) theory of superconductivity was first introduced in the '50s [GL] as a phenomenological, macroscopic model. It was later justified by Gorkov [Gor] as emerging from the microscopic Bardeen-Cooper-Schrieffer (BCS) theory [BCS] (a rigorous mathematical derivation has been achieved only very recently [FHSS]). It has been widely used in the physics literature (see the monographs [Le, Ti]) and has proved very successful, e.g., in predicting the response of superconducting materials to an external magnetic field. We recall for instance the prediction by Abrikosov ¹ of vortex lattices [Abr] and the first discussion by Saint-James and de Gennes [SJdG] of the surface superconductivity phenomenon that shall concern us here.

The phenomenological quantities associated with the superconductor are an order parameter Ψ , such that $|\Psi|^2$ measures the relative density of superconducting Cooper pairs, and an induced magnetic field h, which must be distinguished from the external or applied magnetic field. For a superconductor confined to an infinite cylinder of smooth cross section $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, the GL free energy is given in appropriate units by the functional (here we follow the convention of [FH2], other choices are possible, see, e.g., [SS])

$$\mathcal{G}_{\kappa,\sigma}^{\mathrm{GL}}[\Psi,\mathbf{A}] = \int_{\Omega} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \left\{ |(\nabla + i\kappa\sigma\mathbf{A})\Psi|^2 - \kappa^2 |\Psi|^2 + \frac{1}{2}\kappa^2 |\Psi|^4 + (\kappa\sigma)^2 |\mathrm{curl}\mathbf{A} - 1|^2 \right\},$$
(1.1)

with $\Psi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$ the order parameter and $\kappa \sigma \mathbf{A} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ the induced magnetic vector potential. The induced magnetic field is then $h = \kappa \sigma$ curl \mathbf{A} , with $\kappa > 0$ a physical parameter (penetration depth) characteristic of the material, and $\kappa \sigma$ measures the intensity of the external magnetic field, that we assume to be constant throughout the sample. We shall be concerned with type-II superconductors, characterized by $\kappa > 1/\sqrt{2}$, and more precisely with the limit $\kappa \to \infty$ (extreme type-II).

The state of the superconductor is obtained by minimizing the GL free energy with respect to the pair (Ψ, \mathbf{A}) . A crucial property to be taken into account in the minimization is the *gauge invariance* of (1.1), namely the fact that the energy does not change when the replacements

$$\Psi \to \Psi e^{-i\kappa\sigma\varphi}, \qquad \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{A} + \nabla\varphi$$
(1.2)

are simultaneously performed, for some (say smooth) function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. One important consequence is that the only physically meaningful quantities are the gauge invariant ones, such as the induced field $h = \kappa \sigma \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A}$ or the density of Cooper pairs $|\Psi|^2$.

The modulus of the order parameter $|\Psi|$ varies between 0 and 1, the vanishing of Ψ in a certain region or point implies a loss of the superconductivity there due to the absence of Cooper pairs, whereas if $|\Psi| = 1$ somewhere all the electrons are arranged in Cooper pairs and thus superconducting. The cases $|\Psi| \equiv 1$ and $|\Psi| \equiv 0$ everywhere in Ω correspond to the so-called *superconducting* and *normal* states, known to be preferred for small and large applied field respectively. When $|\Psi|$ is not identically 0 nor 1, for intermediate values of the applied field, one says that the system is in a *mixed* state.

Several remarkable phenomena occur in between the two extreme regimes where the superconducting or normal state dominate. We describe them in order of increased applied field, that is, in the units of (1.1), in order of increasing $\kappa\sigma$ (recall that this description is valid in the regime $\kappa \gg 1$):

 $^{^1 \}rm Noteworthily$ Ginzburg, Landau and Abrikosov were all awarded a Nobel prize in physics for their findings about superconductivity.

• The sample stays in the superconducting state until the *first critical field*

$$H_{\rm c1} = C_\Omega \log \kappa$$

is reached, where C_{Ω} only depends on the domain Ω . Then vortices, i.e., isolated zeros of Ψ with non-trivial winding number (phase circulation), start to appear in the GL minimizer and their number increases with the increase of the external field $\kappa\sigma$. They arrange themselves on a triangular lattice, the famous *Abrikosov lattice*, that survives until a second critical value of the field is reached.

• When the second critical field

$$H_{\rm c2} = \kappa^2,\tag{1.3}$$

is crossed, superconductivity is lost in the bulk of the sample and survives only in a thin layer at the boundary $\partial\Omega$. More precisely the GL order parameter is exponentially decaying far from the boundary and well separated from 0 only up to distances of order $(\kappa\sigma)^{-1/2}$ from $\partial\Omega$. This is the *surface superconductivity* regime: see [S *et al*] for an early observation of this phenomenon and [N *et al*] for more recent experimental data.

• Surface superconductivity survives until a third critical field

$$H_{c3} = \Theta_0^{-1} \kappa^2 + \mathcal{O}(1), \tag{1.4}$$

is reached, where $1/2 < \Theta_0 < 1$ (more precisely $\Theta_0^{-1} \simeq 1.6946$) is a sample-independent number (see Section A.1). Above H_{c3} there is a total loss of superconductivity everywhere and the normal state becomes the global minimizer of the GL energy. Sample-dependent corrections to the estimate (1.4) are also known.

The above is of course a vague description and a large mathematical literature, including the present contribution, has been devoted to backing the above heuristics with rigorous results (see [BBH2, FH2, SS, Sig] for reviews and references). On the experimental side, we mention the direct imaging of the Abrikosov lattices (see, e.g., [H *et al*]) and more recently of the surface superconductivity state [N *et al*].

In this paper we investigate the behavior of the superconducting sample between the second and third critical fields, which in our units translates into the assumption

$$\sigma = b\kappa \tag{1.5}$$

for some fixed parameter b satisfying the conditions

$$1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$$
. (1.6)

From now on we introduce more convenient units to deal with the surface superconductivity phenomenon: we define the small parameter

$$\varepsilon = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sigma\kappa}} = \frac{1}{b^{1/2}\kappa} \ll 1 \tag{1.7}$$

and study the asymptotics $\varepsilon \to 0$ of the minimization of the functional (1.1), which in the new units reads

$$\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}}[\Psi, \mathbf{A}] = \int_{\Omega} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \left\{ \left| \left(\nabla + i \frac{\mathbf{A}}{\varepsilon^2} \right) \Psi \right|^2 - \frac{1}{2b\varepsilon^2} \left(2|\Psi|^2 - |\Psi|^4 \right) + \frac{b}{\varepsilon^4} \left| \mathrm{curl}\mathbf{A} - 1 \right|^2 \right\}.$$
(1.8)

We shall denote

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}} := \min_{(\Psi, \mathbf{A}) \in \mathscr{D}^{\mathrm{GL}}} \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}}[\Psi, \mathbf{A}],$$
(1.9)

with²

$$\mathscr{D}^{\mathrm{GL}} := \left\{ (\Psi, \mathbf{A}) \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{C}) \times H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^2) \right\},\tag{1.10}$$

and denote by $(\Psi^{GL}, \mathbf{A}^{GL})$ a minimizing pair (known to exist by standard methods [FH2, SS]). Minimizers of the GL functional solve the GL variational equations³

$$\begin{cases} -\left(\nabla + i\frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^{2}}\right)^{2}\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}} = \frac{1}{b\varepsilon^{2}}\left(\left|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^{2} - 1\right)\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}},\\ \operatorname{curl}\left(\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}\right) = \varepsilon^{2}\Im\left[\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}^{*}}\left(\nabla + i\frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^{2}}\right)\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right], & \text{in }\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.11)

with the boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\nu} \cdot \left(\nabla + i \frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^2} \right) \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}} = 0, \\ \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}} = 1, \end{cases} \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \qquad (1.12)$$

where ν is the outward unit normal to the boundary.

Note that in our new choice of units we have replaced the two parameters κ, σ with the pair ε, b , where only the first one is infinitesimal throughout the region between H_{c2} and H_{c3} . The strict inequalities we impose on the fixed parameter b in (1.6) are in fact crucial in our analysis: we shall not deal with the limiting cases where $b \to \Theta_0^{-1}$ or $b \to 1$ as a function of ε . The former corresponds to applied fields extremely close to H_{c3} , a regime already thoroughly covered in the literature (see [FH2, Chapters 13 and 14] and references therein). The latter corresponds to the transition from boundary to bulk behavior where our methods do not apply (see [FK, Kac] for recent results).

Several important facts about type-II superconductors in the surface superconductivity regime $\varepsilon \to 0$, $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, have been proved rigorously in recent years. We start by mentioning the energy asymptotics of [Pan]:

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\rm GL} = \frac{|\partial \Omega| E_b}{\varepsilon} + o(\varepsilon^{-1}), \qquad (1.13)$$

where $E_b < 0$ is some constant independent of ε , $|\partial \Omega|$ the length of the boundary of Ω and b satisfies the conditions (1.6). The definition of E_b given in [Pan] is somewhat complicated (see Section 2.3) and further research has been devoted to obtaining a simplified expression. First, [FH1] considered the case where $b \to \Theta_0^{-1}$ as a function of ε at a suitable rate and identified the constant E_b in this case (see also [LP]). In [AH], on the other hand, it is proved that if b is sufficiently close to Θ_0^{-1} (independently of ε), the following holds:

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\rm GL} = \frac{|\partial \Omega| E_0^{\rm 1D}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad (1.14)$$

where E_0^{1D} is obtained by minimizing the functional

$$\mathcal{E}_{0,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}}[f] := \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}t \left\{ \left| \partial_t f \right|^2 + (t+\alpha)^2 f^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left(2f^2 - f^4 \right) \right\}$$
(1.15)

both with respect to the function f and the real number α . All the previous results are reproduced in [FH2, Theorem 14.1.1]. It was later proved in [FHP] that (1.14) holds at least for $1.25 \leq b \leq \Theta_0^{-1}$, which is an improvement over [AH], but does not cover the full surface superconductivity regime (1.6).

²Sometimes the minimization domain is defined in a slightly different way by picking divergence-free magnetic fields **A**, i.e., such that $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$ in Ω and $\boldsymbol{\nu} \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$ on $\partial \Omega$. The gauge invariance of the functional immediately implies that the two minimization domains are in fact equivalent.

 $^{{}^{3}\}Im[\cdot]$ stands for the imaginary part.

The idea behind (1.14) is that, up to a suitable choice of gauge, any minimizing order parameter Ψ^{GL} for (1.1) has the structure

$$\Psi^{\rm GL}(\mathbf{r}) \approx f_0\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right) \exp\left(-i\alpha_0\frac{\xi}{\varepsilon}\right) \tag{1.16}$$

where (f_0, α_0) is a minimizing pair for (1.15) and $(\xi, \eta) = (\text{tangent coordinate, normal coordinate})$ are boundary coordinates defined in a tubular neighborhood of $\partial\Omega$ (see Section 4.1). Of course the only physically relevant quantities are gauge invariant and thus the actual result, proven in [AH], can be stated as

$$\left\| |\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}|^2 - \left| f_0\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right) \right|^2 \right\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \ll \left\| f_0^2\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega)},\tag{1.17}$$

which says that the density of superconducting electrons in the sample is essentially confined to the boundary on a length scale $\varepsilon = 1/\sqrt{\kappa\sigma}$ and given by the function $\left|f_0\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right)\right|^2$ which only depends on the normal coordinate. The result of [AH] is not stated exactly as above, but following their methods and those of [FHP], it is possible to see that (1.17) holds for $1.25 \leq b < \Theta_0^{-1}$.

Two main questions are left open in the aforementioned contributions:

- 1. Does (1.14) hold in the full surface superconductivity regime (1.6)?
- 2. Can (1.17) be strengthened to a better norm, e.g., is the GL matter density $|\Psi^{\text{GL}}|^2$ close to the simplified 1D density $|f_0\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right)|^2$ in L^{∞} norm, at least close to the boundary of the sample?

These are respectively advertised as Open Problems number 2 and 4 in the list of [FH2, Page 267]. Both questions are important from a physical point of view. An affirmative answer to Question 1 would rigorously confirm that surface superconductivity is essentially a 1D phenomenon in the direction normal to the boundary. Question 2 is a strengthened version of a conjecture due to X.B. Pan [Pan, Conjecture 1]: it asks whether the surface superconducting layer is uniform in some sense, in particular by ruling out normal inclusions (vanishing of the order parameter) like isolated vortices close to the boundary of the sample.

The goal of the present paper is to present a method for bounding below the GL energy that allows us to answer Question 1 in the affirmative. In the particular case where the domain Ω is a disc, a refined version of the method and some specific technical efforts also give a positive answer to Question 2.

Our new estimates follow from a quite different approach than that in [AH, FHP]. They are inspired by our earlier works on the related Gross-Pitaevskii (GP) theory of trapped rotating superfluids [CPRY2, CPRY3], see [CPRY4, CPRY5] for a short presentation and [R1] for an earlier approach. These were concerned with the occurrence or absence of vortices in the bulk of rotating Bose-Einstein condensates, in particular in the giant vortex regime where the wave-function of the condensate is concentrated in a thin annulus.

The main physical insight behind our new results on the GL functional is roughly speaking that the only possible way for (1.14) to fail would be that vortices are nucleated inside the surface superconductivity layer. Although this is a physically quite unreasonable possibility in view of the accumulated knowledge on type-II superconductors, it is not ruled out by any previous mathematical result. The method we adapt from our earlier works confirms that nucleating vortices is not favorable, which allows us to prove (1.14) in the whole surface superconductivity regime.

A sketch of the method will be given in Section 2.3, after we state our main results rigorously: first, our affirmative answer to Question 1 for generic domains in Section 2.1, then our investigation of Question 2 for disc samples in Section 2.2. The rest of the paper is devoted to the proofs of our main results.

Acknowledgments: Part of this research has been carried out at the *Erwin Schrödinger Institute* in Vienna and at the *Institut Henri Poincaré* in Paris. We acknowledge stimulating discussions

with Søren Fournais. M.C. was supported by the European Research Council under the European Community Seventh Framework Program (FP7/2007-2013 Grant Agreement CoMBos No. 239694).

2 Main Results

2.1 Generic domains: leading order of the energy

Here we present the results we may prove for any smooth domain Ω . Minimizing the 1D functional (1.15) with respect to f we obtain an energy $E_{0,\alpha}^{1D}$ and a minimizer $f_{0,\alpha}$. Then, minimizing $E_{0,\alpha}^{1D}$ with respect to α gives a minimum E_0^{1D} and a minimizer α_0 . We denote $f_0 = f_{0,\alpha_0}$ for short. The intuition behind (1.14) is that Ψ^{GL} behaves to leading order as (1.16) in a suitable gauge. We use again the notation (ξ, η) for the tangential and normal components of boundary coordinates (see [FH2, Appendix F]). Our main result for generic domains is the following answer to Question 1 and extension of (1.17):

Theorem 2.1 (Leading order of the energy and density for generic domains).

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be any smooth simply connected domain. For any fixed $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, it holds

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\rm GL} = \frac{|\partial \Omega| E_0^{\rm 1D}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\left\| |\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}|^2 - f_0^2 \left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \ll \left\| f_0^2 \left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$
(2.2)

The estimate (2.2) confirms that the density of Cooper pairs is roughly constant in the direction parallel to the boundary of the sample, while the profile in the perpendicular direction is to leading order independent of the sample Ω . Note that we are making a slight abuse of notation in this estimate since the boundary coordinates are not defined in the whole sample. This is harmless since both $|\Psi^{\text{GL}}|^2$ and $f_0^2 \left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right)$ are exponentially decaying at distances larger than $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ from the boundary. This remark also indicates that

$$\left\|f_0^2\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right)\right\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1/2}),$$

because the area of the boundary layer is roughly proportional to ε . This vindicates the second inequality in (2.2).

Remark 2.1 (Limiting cases)

As already mentioned we choose not to address the limiting cases $b \to 1$ or $b \to \Theta_0^{-1}$ for simplicity. In the former case, a bulk term should appear in addition to the boundary term (2.1), as demonstrated in [FK]. Probably our method may give a simplified expression of the boundary term obtained in this reference (see Section 2.3). When $b \to \Theta_0^{-1}$, the analysis is complicated by the fact that $f_0 \to 0$, so that the leading order of $E_{\varepsilon}^{\text{GL}}$ is no longer of order ε^{-1} [FH2, Theorem 14.1.1].

2.2 The case of the disc: refined energy estimates and Pan's conjecture

Although the proof of Theorem 2.1 suggests that normal inclusions, e.g., in the form of vortices, are not favorable in the surface superconductivity layer, the precision of the energy estimate is not sufficient to rigorously conclude that there are no such normal inclusions. In fact the error term in (2.1) is still comparable with the energetic cost for $|\Psi^{\text{GL}}|$ to vanish close to the boundary in a ball of radius ε , i.e., of the same order as the thickness of the boundary layer and compatible with the optimal estimate $|\nabla|\Psi^{\text{GL}}|| = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-1})$. In order to obtain an equivalent of (1.17) in L^{∞} norm, it is thus necessary to expand the energy further.

An important difficulty is then that one of the terms entering the $\mathcal{O}(1)$ remainder in (2.1) involves the curvature of the domain Ω . It is clearly (see below) not smaller than a constant, and must thus be evaluated to go beyond (2.1). One case where we are able to do this is when the curvature is a constant k, i.e., the domain is a disc. In this case one may evaluate the $\mathcal{O}(1)$ remainder in (2.1) by using the following refined functional:

$$\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}}[f] := \int_{0}^{c_{0}|\log\varepsilon|} \mathrm{d}t \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) \left\{ \left|\partial_{t}f\right|^{2} + \frac{(t + \alpha - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^{2})^{2}}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^{2}}f^{2} - \frac{1}{2b}\left(2f^{2} - f^{4}\right) \right\},\tag{2.3}$$

where c_0 is a constant that has to be chosen large enough (see Section 4.1 for its role in the proof). Note that (1.15) is simply the above functional with k = 0, $\varepsilon = 0$, that is with curvature terms neglected. As before, minimizing with respect to both f and α we obtain an energy E_k^{1D} , a function f_k and an optimal $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Contrarily to the corresponding quantities in the k = 0 case, these do depend on ε . The following theorem contains the refined estimates in which we use (2.3). We denote (r, ϑ) the polar coordinates.

Theorem 2.2 (Refined energy and density estimates in the disc case).

Let Ω be a disc of radius $R = k^{-1}$. For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$ there exists a $c_0 > 0$ such that, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, it holds

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\rm GL} = \frac{2\pi E_k^{\rm 1D}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|), \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\left\| |\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}|^2 - f_k^2 \left(\frac{R-r}{\varepsilon} \right) \right\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{3/2} |\log \varepsilon|^{1/2}).$$
(2.5)

Remark 2.2 (Limits and orders of magnitude)

It is clear from (2.3) that the k-dependent terms contribute to E_k^{1D} at order ε , so that the error term in (2.4) is much smaller than these curvature dependent effects. Note also that the error we make in the density asymptotics (2.5) is much smaller than the difference between f_0 and f_k (of order ε as a simple estimate reveals). In particular (2.5) does not hold if f_k is replaced by f_0 .

A density estimate so strong as (2.5) turns out to be incompatible with any significant local discrepancies between $|\Psi^{\text{GL}}|^2$ and $f_k^2 \left(\frac{R-r}{\varepsilon}\right)$. We thus rule out normal inclusions in some boundary layer that we now define:

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm bl} := \left\{ \mathbf{r} \in \Omega : f_k\left(\frac{R-r}{\varepsilon}\right) \ge \gamma_{\varepsilon} \right\} \subset \left\{ r \ge R - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon\sqrt{\left|\log\gamma_{\varepsilon}\right|} \right\},\tag{2.6}$$

where bl stands for "boundary layer" and $0 < \gamma_{\varepsilon} \ll 1$ is any quantity such that

$$\gamma_{\varepsilon} \gg \varepsilon^{1/6}.$$
 (2.7)

The inclusion in (2.6) follows from (3.26) below and ensures we are really considering a significant boundary layer: recall that the physically relevant region has a thickness roughly of order ε .

Theorem 2.3 (Uniform density estimates in the disc case).

Let Ω be a disc of radius $R = k^{-1}$. For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$ there exists a $c_0 > 0$ such that, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, it holds

$$\left\| \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}) \right| - f_k\left(\frac{R-r}{\varepsilon}\right) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{bl}})} \le \mathcal{O}(\gamma_{\varepsilon}^{-3/2} \varepsilon^{1/4} |\log \varepsilon|^2) \ll 1.$$
(2.8)

In particular at the boundary $\partial \Omega$ we have

$$\left| \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(R,\vartheta) \right| - f_k(0) \right| \le \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1/4} |\log \varepsilon|^2), \tag{2.9}$$

uniformly in $\vartheta \in [0, 2\pi]$.

Remark 2.3 (Optimal density f_k and Pan's conjecture) For example, if we choose $\gamma_{\varepsilon} = |\log \varepsilon|^{-2}$, we obtain

$$\left| \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}) \right| - f_k \left(\frac{R-r}{\varepsilon} \right) \right| \le C \varepsilon^{1/4} |\log \varepsilon|^5,$$

for any **r** such that $r \ge R - C\varepsilon \log |\log \varepsilon|$. One should note that the error term in (2.8) is much larger than the difference between f_k and f_0 , so we could as well used f_0 in the statement of the theorem. However the use of the optimal density f_k remains crucial to reproduce the energy of the GL minimizer up to corrections o(1) (see Proposition 5.12). The particular case (2.9) proves the original form of Pan's conjecture [Pan, Conjecture 1] in the case of disc samples.

The above result provides information about the behavior of the modulus of Ψ^{GL} on the boundary, and, thanks to the positivity of f_k (in particular at t = 0), the phase and thus the winding number (phase circulation) of Ψ^{GL} at the boundary are well defined. In the next theorem we give an estimate of deg(Ψ^{GL} , $\partial\Omega$), where, if \mathcal{B}_R is a ball of radius R, we define

$$2\pi \deg\left(\Psi, \partial \mathcal{B}_R\right) := -i \int_{\partial \mathcal{B}_R} \mathrm{d}\xi \; \frac{|\Psi|}{\Psi} \partial_\tau \left(\frac{\Psi}{|\Psi|}\right),\tag{2.10}$$

 ∂_{τ} standing for the tangential derivative along the boundary. We thus complete the analysis of the boundary behavior of Ψ^{GL} by discussing its phase.

Theorem 2.4 (Winding number of Ψ^{GL} on the boundary of disc samples). Let Ω be a disc of radius $R = k^{-1}$. For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$, any GL minimizer Ψ^{GL} satisfies

$$\deg\left(\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}},\partial\Omega\right) = \frac{|\alpha_k|}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-3/4}|\log\varepsilon|^2).$$
(2.11)

Remark 2.4 (Boundary behavior of Ψ^{GL} and interpretation of the winding number) The combination of Theorem 2.4 with the modulus convergence stated in (2.9) is compatible with a behavior of the type

$$\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(R,\vartheta) \approx f_k(0) e^{i\frac{|\alpha_k|}{\varepsilon}\vartheta},$$

although the estimates are not precise enough to derive the exact shape of the phase factor. As is well-known, the winding number counts the number of phase singularities, i.e., vortices of Ψ^{GL} inside Ω . The above result thus suggests that there are a number of order ε^{-1} vortices in the sample, although these are made undetectable in practice by the exponential decay of Ψ^{GL} in this region.

Remark 2.5 (Lack of continuity of Ψ^{GL} as a function of b, ε)

As noted in [AH], the continuity of Ψ^{GL} as a function of the parameters of the functional does not seem compatible with the existence and quantization of the winding number (2.10) that follows from (2.9). Indeed, the phase circulation is a topological, discrete quantity that cannot vary continuously. While in [AH] this argument was used to cast doubt on the possibility for (2.9) to hold, we on the contrary use their argument to suggest that Ψ^{GL} does not depend continuously on b and ε .

We end this section by a comment about general domains. We do believe that the analogues of (2.9) and (2.11) continue to hold for any smooth $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. The estimates of Theorem 2.2 clearly fail however since the curvature of the domain is not constant in this case. We still think that our method can ultimately allow to generalize Theorems 2.3 and 2.4 to generic smooth domains, but important new ingredients are also required. This will be the subject of a future work.

2.3 Heuristic considerations and sketch of the method

The starting point of our analysis is a reduction of the problem to an effective one posed in a small boundary layer and a mapping to boundary coordinates. This involves a clever choice of gauge, decay estimates for the GL order parameter (mostly the so-called Agmon estimates) and a replacement of the induced vector potential by the external one. This part of the analysis is borrowed from the aforementioned references and we have virtually nothing new to say about it. The main steps will be recalled later for the convenience of the reader, an exhaustive reference on these methods being [FH2]. In this section we outline the main steps of our approach beyond these classical reductions, starting from a functional that is commonly used in the literature as an intermediate between the full GL energy and the 1D functional (1.15). This will illustrate the arguments we shall use in the proofs of our main results, in particular give a pretty complete picture of the main ingredients for the results of Section 2.1. The estimates leading to the results of Section 2.2 are based on the same kind of considerations, applied to more complicated functionals however and with significant additional technical difficulties.

After the reductions we have just mentioned, the leading order of the functional is given by a model on a half-plane, with a fixed vector potential parallel to the boundary⁴:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\rm hp}[\psi] = \int_{-L}^{L} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}t \left\{ \left| \left(\nabla + it\mathbf{e}_{s} \right) \psi \right|^{2} + \frac{1}{b} |\psi|^{4} - \frac{2}{b} |\psi|^{2} \right\}.$$
 (2.12)

Here the coordinate t corresponds to the direction normal to the boundary of the original sample, s to the tangential coordinate. Length units have been multiplied by ε^{-1} so that $2L = \frac{|\partial \Omega|}{\varepsilon}$ (the boundary in the t coordinate is sent to ∞ for convenience). Note that the only large parameter of this functional is the length L. The parameter b is the original one and thus satisfies (1.6). Since the domain

$$D_L := [-L, L] \times \mathbb{R}^+$$

corresponds to the unfolded boundary layer (with neglected curvature), one must impose periodicity of ψ in the *s*-direction. This is not so important when *L* is large, and in this section we shall only assume periodicity of $|\psi|$ in the *s* variable. We denote $E_{\rm hp}(L)$ the minimum of $\mathcal{E}_{\rm hp}$ under this condition and recall that the constant E_b obtained by X.B. Pan [Pan] in (1.13) is in fact given by the large *L* limit of $(2L)^{-1}E_{\rm hp}(L)$.

We will argue that $E_{\rm hp} = 2LE_0^{1\rm D}$ where $E_0^{1\rm D}$ is defined at the beginning of Section 2.1. The upper bound $E_{\rm hp} \leq 2LE_0^{1\rm D}$ is immediate, using $\psi(s,t) = f_0(t)e^{i\alpha_0 s}$ as a trial state. The strategy we borrow from [CPRY2, CPRY3] yields the lower bound $E_{\rm hp} \geq 2LE_0^{1\rm D}$. The main steps are as follows:

1. When $b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, f_0 is strictly positive everywhere in \mathbb{R}^+ . To any ψ we may thus associate a v by setting

$$\psi(s,t) = f_0(t)e^{i\alpha_0 s}v(s,t).$$
(2.13)

Using the variational equation for f_0 it is not difficult to see that

$$\mathcal{E}_{\rm hp}[\psi] = 2LE_0^{\rm 1D} + \mathcal{E}_0[v], \tag{2.14}$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}[v] = \int_{D_{L}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_{0}^{2}(t) \left\{ \left| \nabla v \right|^{2} - 2(t + \alpha_{0}) \mathbf{e}_{s} \cdot \mathbf{j}(v) + \frac{1}{2b} f_{0}^{2}(t) \left(1 - |v|^{2} \right)^{2} \right\},$$
(2.15)

with \mathbf{e}_s the unit vector in the s-direction and

$$\mathbf{j}(v) = \frac{i}{2} \left(v \nabla v^* - v^* \nabla v \right)$$

the superconducting current associated with v. This kind of energy decoupling, originating in [LM], has been used repeatedly in the literature (see [CR, CRY] and references therein).

⁴The subscript hp stands for "half-plane". Sometimes this is referred to as a functional on a cylinder.

2. In view of (2.14), we need to prove a lower bound to the reduced functional \mathcal{E}_0 . Here our strategy differs markedly from the spectral approach of [AH, FHP]. We first note that the field $2(t + \alpha_0)f_0^2(t)\mathbf{e}_s$ is divergence-free and may thus be written as $\nabla^{\perp}F_0$ with a certain F_0 that we can clearly choose as

$$F_0(t,s) = F_0(t) = 2\int_0^t d\eta \,(\eta + \alpha_0) f_0^2(t)$$

by fixing $F_0(0) = 0$. Then it follows from the definition of α_0 and f_0 that $F_0(+\infty) = 0$ (this is the Feynman-Hellmann principle applied to the functional $\mathcal{E}_{0,\alpha}^{1D}$). Using Stokes' formula on the term involving $\mathbf{j}(v)$ in (2.15) we thus have

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}[v] := \int_{D_{L}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \,\left\{ f_{0}^{2}(t) \left| \nabla v \right|^{2} + F_{0}(t)\mu(v) + \frac{1}{2b} f_{0}^{4}(t) \left(1 - |v|^{2}\right)^{2} \right\},\$$

where

$$\mu(v) = \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{j}(v)$$

is the *vorticity* associated to v. We also use the periodicity of $|\psi|$ here.

3. It is not difficult to prove that F_0 is negative, so that we may bound below

$$\mathcal{E}_0[v] \ge \int_{D_L} ds dt \left(f_0^2(t) |\nabla v|^2 + F_0(t) |\mu(v)| \right).$$

We now make the simple but crucial observation that the vorticity is locally controlled by the kinetic energy density:

$$|\mu(v)| \le |\nabla v|^2, \tag{2.16}$$

so that we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}[v] \ge \int_{D_{L}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(f_{0}^{2}(t) + F_{0}(t)\right) \left|\nabla v\right|^{2}.$$
 (2.17)

4. In view of (2.14) and (2.17), the sought-after lower bound follows if we manage to prove that the cost function

$$K_0(t) := f_0^2(t) + F_0(t) \ge 0 \tag{2.18}$$

for any $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$. This is the crucial step and we prove in Section 3.2 below that this is indeed the case under the condition (1.6) (in fact b = 1 is also allowed).

Steps 1 to 3 are general and follow [CPRY2, CPRY3], Step 1 having also been used previously in this context [AH]. It is in Step 4 that the specificities of surface superconductivity physics enter, in the form of the properties of the 1D functional (1.15). In particular the proof relies on the effective potential appearing in the 1D functional being quadratic⁵, on the optimality of f_0 and α_0 and of course on the 1D aspect of the problem. A noteworthy point is that our main ingredient, the lower bound to the cost function (2.18), holds in the regime (1.6) (actually for $1 \le b < \Theta_0^{-1}$) and only there⁶. The method is thus sharp in this respect.

As we mentioned earlier, the main insight is to notice that only the formation of vortices could lower $\mathcal{E}_0[v]$ to make it negative. Indeed the only potentially negative term in (2.15) is that involving the superconducting current $\mathbf{j}(v)$, that we may rewrite using the vorticity. Thinking of v in the form $\rho e^{i\varphi}$, $\mathbf{j}(v) = \rho^2 \nabla \varphi$ corresponds to a velocity field, which justifies the name "vorticity" for $\mu(v)$ (as in fluid mechanics). A reasonable guess is to suppose that on average $\rho = |v| \sim 1$, which favors the

⁵A closer inspection shows that the crucial point is that $\partial_{\alpha}(t+\alpha)^2 = \partial_t(t+\alpha)^2$.

⁶In fact for $b > \Theta_0^{-1}$ (2.18) is trivially true since $f_0 \equiv 0$ but then (2.13) does not make sense so the method fails altogether.

last term of (4.35). Then, heuristically, $\mu(v)$ may be non trivial only if the phase φ has singularities, i.e., vortices. These could a priori lower the energy by sitting where F_0 is minimum but inequalities (2.16) and (2.18) together show that the kinetic energy cost of such vortices would always dominate the gain. Note that although we think in terms of vortices for the sake of heuristics, we do not need to apply any sophisticated vortex ball method as in [CPRY1, CR, CRY, R2] to bound \mathcal{E}_0 from below.

The rest of the paper contains the proofs of our main results, for which we will have to present variants of the above strategy to accommodate various technical aspects of the problem. We start in Section 3 by analyzing the 1D functionals (1.15) and (3.5). In particular we define the associated cost functions and prove their positivity properties, which are the main new technical ingredients of the present contribution. Section 4 contains a sketch of the now standard procedure of reducing the GL functional to a small boundary layer and replacing the magnetic vector potential. We also conclude there the proof of our Theorem 2.1 about generic domains. In Section 5 we restrict the setting to disc samples and prove the results of Section 2.2. An Appendix gathers technical estimates that we use here and there.

3 Analysis of Effective One-dimensional Problems

As will be discussed in more details below, once the usual standard reduction to the boundary layer and appropriate change of gauge have been performed we are left with the following functional

$$\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{\varepsilon}[\psi] := \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t\right) \left\{ \left|\partial_t \psi\right|^2 + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t)^2} \left| \left(\partial_s + ia_{\varepsilon}(s, t)\right) \psi \right|^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left[2|\psi|^2 - |\psi|^4\right] \right\}, \quad (3.1)$$

where we have set

$$a_{\varepsilon}(s,t) := -t + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon k(s)t^2 + \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon}, \qquad (3.2)$$

and

$$\delta_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\gamma_0}{\varepsilon^2} - \left\lfloor \frac{\gamma_0}{\varepsilon^2} \right\rfloor, \qquad \gamma_0 := \frac{1}{|\partial \Omega|} \int_{\Omega} d\mathbf{r} \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A}^{\operatorname{GL}}, \tag{3.3}$$

 $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$ standing for the integer part. The coordinates εs and εt correspond respectively to the tangential and normal coordinates in a tubular neighborhood of $\partial \Omega$,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} := \left\{ (s, t) \in \left[0, \frac{|\partial \Omega|}{\varepsilon} \right] \times \left[0, c_0 |\log \varepsilon| \right] \right\}$$

with c_0 a constant independent of ε . The function k(s) is the curvature of $\partial\Omega$ as a function of εs . The connection between (1.1) and (3.1) will be investigated in Section 4. In the present section we are concerned with the study of effective functionals obtained when plugging some physically relevant ansätze in (3.1) and/or neglecting some lower order terms. The analysis of these model functionals provide the main technical ingredients of the proofs of our main results.

For generic domains we first neglect the terms involving the curvature k(s) in (3.1). Indeed, they all come multiplied by an ε factor and will thus contribute only to the subleading order of the energy. Setting artificially $k(s) \equiv 0$ (that is, approximating the original domain by a half-plane), making the ansatz

$$\psi(s,t) = f(t)e^{-i(\alpha+\varepsilon\delta_{\varepsilon})s}$$
(3.4)

and integrating over the s variable we obtain the 1D functional (times $\frac{|\partial \Omega|}{\epsilon}$)

$$\mathcal{E}_{0,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}}[f] := \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}t \left\{ |\partial_t f|^2 + (t+\alpha)^2 f^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left(2f^2 - f^4 \right) \right\}$$
(3.5)

which is known to play a crucial role in the surface superconducting regime [AH, FH2, FHP]. We have also set $\varepsilon = 0$ so that the integration domain is now the full half-line.

The improvement of our results when the domain is a disc comes from the simple observation that in this case it is not necessary to drop the curvature terms to obtain a 1D functional out of the ansatz (3.4). Indeed, taking the curvature to be a constant $k(s) \equiv k$ and plugging (3.4) in (3.1), we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{\rm 1D}[f] := \int_0^{c_0 |\log \varepsilon|} \mathrm{d}t \, (1 - \varepsilon kt) \left\{ \left| \partial_t f \right|^2 + \frac{(t + \alpha - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^2)^2}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^2} f^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left(2f^2 - f^4 \right) \right\}$$
(3.6)

after integration over the s variable and extraction of the factor $|\partial \Omega|/\varepsilon$. This functional includes subleading corrections of order ε but retains the 1D character of (3.5) (which is just (3.6) with k = 0) and is thus amenable to a similar, although technically more involved, treatment.

For the refinements in the disc case it is important that we retain the definition of (3.6) on an interval and not the full half-line, since the functional makes sense only for $\varepsilon kt < 1$. In addition the tuning of the value of c_0 is going to play a role in the proof. The differences in the treatment of the problems on the half-line and on a large interval are not very important until we introduce the cost functions in Sections 3.2 and 3.3, so we only make remarks in this direction. The exponential decay (3.26) of $f_{k,\alpha}$ however guarantees that once k is set equal to 0 in (3.6), all the discrepancies with (3.5) are just of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty})$.

We now set some notation that is going to be used in the rest of the paper. We denote by $f_{k,\alpha}$ the minimizer of (3.6), with $E_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$ the corresponding ground state energy, i.e.,

$$E_{k,\alpha}^{\mathrm{1D}} := \inf_{f \in H^1(I_\varepsilon)} \mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{\mathrm{1D}}[f] = \mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{\mathrm{1D}}[f_{k,\alpha}].$$
(3.7)

We will optimize this latter quantity with respect to $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, thereby obtaining an optimal 1D energy that we denote

$$E_k^{\rm 1D} := \min_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} E_{k,\alpha}^{\rm 1D}. \tag{3.8}$$

Any minimizing α will be denoted α_k and the minimizer of $\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha_k}^{1\mathrm{D}} := \mathcal{E}_k^{1\mathrm{D}}$, achieving $E_{k,\alpha_k}^{1\mathrm{D}} := E_k^{1\mathrm{D}}$ will be written f_k for short. We use the same conventions for the half-plane case, simply setting k = 0. For shortness we shall also denote by

$$V_{k,\alpha}(t) := \left(\frac{t+\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^2}{1-\varepsilon kt}\right)^2,\tag{3.9}$$

the potential appearing in (3.6) and

$$I_{\varepsilon} := [0, t_{\varepsilon}], \qquad t_{\varepsilon} := c_0 |\log \varepsilon|.$$
(3.10)

Note that the potential $V_{k,\alpha}$ is a translated harmonic potential in I_{ε} up to corrections of order $\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^2$:

$$V_{k,\alpha}(t) = (t+\alpha)^2 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon|\log\varepsilon|^2) = V_{0,\alpha}(t) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon|\log\varepsilon|^2).$$
(3.11)

As before we shall drop the α subscript when α is taken to be α_k , obtaining the potentials V_k and V_0 .

In this section we study the above functionals and in particular prove the desired positivity properties of the associated cost functions (defined below). We start in Section 3.1 by providing elementary properties common to both functionals. The results for the functional (3.5) have already been proved elsewhere (see [FH2, Section 14.2] and references therein) and we recover them as a particular case (k = 0, $\varepsilon = 0$) of our study of (3.6) for arbitrary k. We proceed to discuss the positivity of the cost function associated to the half-plane functional (3.5) and the disc functional (3.6) in Sections 3.2 and 3.3 respectively. Again, the half-plane case is actually contained in the disc case, but we provide a simpler proof containing the main ideas when k = 0. The proof of Theorem 2.1 uses only this case and the refined analysis of Section 3.3 will be used only in Section 5.

3.1 Preliminary analysis of the effective functionals

We start with discussing elementary properties of the minimization of $\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$:

Proposition 3.1 (Minimization of $\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$).

For any given ε small enough, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and $k \geq 0$, there exists a minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$ to $\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$, unique up to sign, which we choose to be non-negative. It solves the variational equation

$$-f_{k,\alpha}'' + \frac{\varepsilon_k}{1-\varepsilon_k t} f_{k,\alpha}' + V_{k,\alpha}(t) f_{k,\alpha} = \frac{1}{b} \left(1 - f_{k,\alpha}^2 \right) f_{k,\alpha}$$
(3.12)

with boundary conditions $f'_{k,\alpha}(0) = f'_{k,\alpha}(c_0 | \log \varepsilon |) = 0$. Moreover $f_{k,\alpha}$ satisfies the estimate

$$\|f_{k,\alpha}\|_{L^{\infty}(I_{\varepsilon})} \le 1 \tag{3.13}$$

and it is monotonically decreasing for $t \geq \max\left[0, -\alpha + \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)\right]$. In addition $E_{k,\alpha}^{\text{1D}}$ is a smooth function of $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and

$$E_{k,\alpha}^{\rm 1D} = -\frac{1}{2b} \int_{I_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}t \ (1 - \varepsilon kt) f_{k,\alpha}^4(t). \tag{3.14}$$

Remark 3.1 (Half-plane case k = 0)

Strictly speaking in the case k = 0, $\varepsilon = 0$ there is no boundary condition at ∞ , so the only condition satisfied by $f_{0,\alpha}$ is $f'_{0,\alpha}(0) = 0$. In addition the variational equation (3.12) turns into

$$-f_{0,\alpha}'' + (t+\alpha)^2 f_{0,\alpha} = \frac{1}{b} \left(1 - f_{0,\alpha}^2\right) f_{0,\alpha}, \qquad (3.15)$$

which is familiar from preceding works on this problem, see in particular [FHP] for a refined analysis. $\hfill \square$

Proof. Uniqueness and non-negativity of the minimizer are straightforward consequences of the strict convexity of the functional in $\rho := f^2$. Note however that $f_{k,\alpha} \equiv 0$ is in fact the minimizer in a certain range of the parameters (see below). The variational equation for $f_{k,\alpha}$ is the Euler-Lagrange equation for the functional $\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$ and the boundary conditions simply follow from the choice of the minimization domain $H^1(I_{\varepsilon})$.

The upper bound on $\sup_{I_{\varepsilon}} f_{k,\alpha}$ is a simple consequence of the maximum principle (see, e.g., [FH2, Proof of Proposition 10.3.1]), while the monotonicity for t larger than $-\alpha + \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ (assuming that the expression is positive) can be easily obtained by integrating the variational equation (3.12) in $[t, c_0 | \log \varepsilon |]$, which yields

$$(1 - \varepsilon kt)f'_{k,\alpha}(t) = \int_t^{c_0|\log\varepsilon|} \mathrm{d}\eta \,(1 - \varepsilon k\eta) \left[\frac{1}{b}(1 - f_{k,\alpha}^2) - V_{k,\alpha}(\eta)\right] f_{k,\alpha},\tag{3.16}$$

thanks to Neumann boundary conditions. For $t \ge -\alpha + \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$, $V_{k,\alpha}(t) \ge \frac{1}{b}$ so that the integrand and therefore the whole expression are negative.

As already mentioned in the proof of Proposition 3.1 above, the minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$ can as well be identically zero: all the properties (3.12)-(3.13) are indeed satisfied by the trivial function $f \equiv 0$, in which case the energy itself would be $E_{k,\alpha}^{1D} = 0$ by (3.14). We thus have to single out the proper conditions on α and b guaranteeing that the minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$ is non-trivial, which are of crucial importance since the regime $f_0 \equiv 0$ corresponds to applied magnetic fields above H_{c3} .

importance since the regime $f_0 \equiv 0$ corresponds to applied magnetic fields above H_{c3} . We introduce a linear operator associated with $\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$, whose spectral analysis allows to investigate the existence of a non-trivial minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$: we denote by $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha)$ the ground state energy of the Schrödinger operator

$$H_{k,\alpha} := -\partial_t^2 - \frac{\varepsilon k}{1 - \varepsilon k t} \partial_t + V_{k,\alpha}(t), \qquad (3.17)$$

with Neumann boundary conditions in $\mathscr{H} := L^2(I_{\varepsilon}, (1 - \varepsilon kt) dt)$, i.e.,

$$\mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha) := \inf_{u \in L^2(I_{\varepsilon}), \|u\|_{\mathscr{H}} = 1} \langle u | H_{k,\alpha} | u \rangle_{\mathscr{H}}.$$
(3.18)

Several properties of this Schrödinger operator are collected in the Appendix (see Section A.1).

The main result about the non-triviality of $f_{k,\alpha}$, which is the analogue of [FH2, Proposition 14.2.2], is the following:

Proposition 3.2 (Existence of a non-trivial minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$).

For any given ε small enough, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and $k \geq 0$, the minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$ is non-trivial, i.e., $f_{k,\alpha} \neq 0$, if and only if

$$b^{-1} > \mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha). \tag{3.19}$$

In particular if the condition is satisfied, $f_{k,\alpha}$ is the unique positive ground state (not normalized) of the Schrödinger operator

$$H_{k,\alpha} - \frac{1}{b} \left(1 - f_{k,\alpha}^2 \right) \tag{3.20}$$

with Neumann boundary conditions.

Proof. The result can be proved exactly as in [FH2, Proposition 14.2.2]. Indeed using the same cut-off function χ_N , one can conclude that $f_{k,\alpha} \equiv 0$, if $b^{-1} \leq \mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha)$. The opposite implication follows from the existence of a positive normalized ground state $\phi_{k,\alpha}$ of $H_{k,\alpha}$: picking $a\phi_{k,\alpha}$ for some sufficiently small a as a trial state, we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}}[a\phi_{k,\alpha}] = \langle a\phi_{k,\alpha} | H_{k,\alpha} | a\phi_{k,\alpha} \rangle - \frac{a^2}{b} + \frac{a^4}{2b} \| \phi_{k,\alpha} \|_4^4 \\ \leq a^2 \left[\mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha) - \frac{1}{b} + \frac{a^2}{2b} \| \phi_{k,\alpha} \|_4^4 \right] < 0 = \mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}}[0], \quad (3.21)$$

because $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha) - \frac{1}{b} < 0$ by assumption. This rules out the possibility of the minimizer being identically zero.

We also give a criterion in terms of $\mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)$, the lowest eigenvalue of the α -shifted 1D harmonic oscillator on the half-line with Neumann boundary conditions:

$$H_{\alpha}^{\text{osc}} := -\partial_t^2 + (t+\alpha)^2, \qquad (3.22)$$

acting on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathrm{d}t)$. This criterion is more convenient because it does not depend on ε . It follows from a comparison between $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha)$ and $\mu^{\mathrm{osc}}(\alpha)$ that we provide in the Appendix, Section A.1.

Corollary 3.1 (Existence of a non-trivial minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$, continued).

Let $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$ and $\underline{\alpha}_i(k, b), \overline{\alpha}_i(k, b), i = 1, 2$, be defined as in (A.16). Then for any $\alpha \in (\overline{\alpha}_2, \underline{\alpha}_1)$ the minimizer $f_{k,\alpha}$ is non-trivial. In the case k = 0 the minimizer is non-trivial if and only if $b^{-1} > \mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)$.

Proof. The result is obtained by a direct combination of Corollary A.1 (see in particular (A.17)) with the above Proposition 3.2. The part about the k = 0 case is contained in [FH2, Proposition 14.2].

We can now show the existence of an optimal phase α_k minimizing $E_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$ with respect to $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, for any $b \in (1, \Theta_0^{-1})$:

Lemma 3.1 (Optimal phase α_k).

For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, $k \ge 0$ and ε small enough, there exists at least one α_k minimizing $E_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$.

$$\inf_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} E_{k,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}} = E_{k,\alpha_k}^{1\mathrm{D}} =: E_k^{1\mathrm{D}}.$$
(3.23)

Setting $f_k := f_{k,\alpha_k}$ we have that $f_k > 0$ everywhere and

$$\int_{I_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{t + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^2}{1 - \varepsilon kt} f_k^2(t) = 0. \tag{3.24}$$

Proof. The existence of a minimizer is basically a consequence of Corollary A.1: for any $b \in (1, \Theta_0^{-1})$, one can find four negative values $\underline{\alpha}_i(k, b)$ and $\overline{\alpha}_i(k, b)$, i = 1, 2, such that (recall that $\overline{\alpha}_1 < \underline{\alpha}_2$)

$$\begin{split} E_{k,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}} &= 0, \quad \text{for } \alpha \in (-\infty, \underline{\alpha}_1] \text{ or } \alpha \in [\overline{\alpha}_2, \infty), \\ E_{k,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}} &< 0, \quad \text{for } \alpha \in (\overline{\alpha}_1, \underline{\alpha}_2). \end{split}$$

Obviously this implies the existence of a minimizer α_k . In addition $E_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$ is a smooth function of α in the interval $(\overline{\alpha}_1, \underline{\alpha}_2)$ and studying its derivative with respect to α yields (Feynman-Hellman principle)

$$\partial_{\alpha} E_{k,\alpha}^{1\mathrm{D}} = 2 \int_{I_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{t + \alpha - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^2}{1 - \varepsilon kt} f_{k,\alpha}^2(t), \tag{3.25}$$

so that at α_k (3.24) must hold true.

In the rest of the paper we are going to use several times, in particular when estimating the cost function, the following pointwise bounds, whose somewhat technical proofs are discussed in the Appendix (Section A.2) together with other useful estimates. A similar result appeared in [FHP, Theorem 3.1], although the constants involved in the estimate there are not uniform in ε , unlike those involved in the bounds below. Note that the pointwise estimates are formulated only for $b \in (1, \Theta_0^{-1})$ and $\alpha \in (\overline{\alpha}_2, \underline{\alpha}_1)$ defined in (A.16), where we already know that the minimizer is not identically zero.

Proposition 3.3 (Pointwise estimates for $f_{k,\alpha}$).

For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, $\alpha \in (\overline{\alpha}_2, \underline{\alpha}_1)$, $k \ge 0$ and $\varepsilon \ll 1$, there exist two positive constants c, C > 0independent of ε such that

$$c \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(t+\sqrt{2})^2\right\} \le f_{k,\alpha}(t) \le C \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(t+\alpha)^2\right\},$$
 (3.26)

for any $t \in I_{\varepsilon}$.

We end this Section by introducing the potential function associated with f_k :

$$F_k(t) := 2 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, (1 - \varepsilon k\eta) f_k^2(\eta) \frac{\eta + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon k\eta^2}{(1 - \varepsilon k\eta)^2}.$$
(3.27)

The motivation for introducing these objects will become clearer in Section 5 (see also the heuristic discussion in Section 2.3). We collect some of their properties in the following Lemma.

Lemma 3.2 (Properties of the potential function F_k).

For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, $k \ge 0$ and ε sufficiently small, let F_k be the function defined in (3.27). Then we have

 $F_k(t) \le 0, \quad in \ I_{\varepsilon}, \qquad F_k(0) = F_k(t_{\varepsilon}) = 0.$ (3.28)

In the case $k = \varepsilon = 0$, the equation $F_k(t_{\varepsilon}) = 0$ should be read as $\lim_{t \to \infty} F_0(t) = 0$.

Proof. We observe that $F_k(t_{\varepsilon}) = 0$ is simply (3.24), the first order condition for α_k being a minimizer of $E_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$. The fact that $F_k(0) = 0$ immediately follows from the definition.

On the other hand

$$F'_{k}(t) = 2 \frac{t + \alpha_{k} - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^{2}}{1 - \varepsilon kt} f^{2}_{k}(t), \qquad (3.29)$$

and thanks to the negativity of α_k and positivity of f_k , we obtain that $F'_k(t) \leq 0$ in a neighborhood of the origin. Moreover F'_k can vanish (again by strict positivity of f_k) only at a single point t_k where $t_k + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt_0^2 = 0$, i.e.,

$$t_k = |\alpha_k| + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon),$$

which has then to be a minimum point for F_k . For $t > t_k$, $F_k(t)$ is increasing but since $F_k(t_{\varepsilon}) = 0$, it also remains negative for any $t \in I_{\varepsilon}$.

3.2 The cost function in the half-plane case

The cost function that will naturally appear in our investigation of (3.1) for generic domains is

$$K_0(t) := f_0^2(t) + F_0(t) = f_0^2(t) + 2\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \ (\eta + \alpha_0) f_0^2(\eta).$$
(3.30)

The result we aim at is the following:

Proposition 3.4 (Positivity of the cost function in the half-plane case).

Let $K_0(t)$ be the function defined in (3.30). For any $1 \le b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, it holds

$$K_0(t) \ge 0, \quad \text{for any } t \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$
 (3.31)

Remark 3.2 (Extreme regime $b \to \Theta_0^{-1}$)

A simpler computation can be performed in the case where b converges to Θ_0^{-1} . In this case it is known (see [FHP] for further details) that f_0 is approximately proportional to the first eigenfunction of the harmonic oscillator (3.22), with $\alpha_0 = -\sqrt{\Theta_0}$, the minimizer of the oscillator ground state energy (see (A.12)). Replacing f_0 by this function and following the steps below, one obtains a similar result with a simpler proof, since the nonlinearity in (3.15) can be neglected. This can give an idea of the mechanism at work, but is certainly not sufficient for the proof of our main results in the whole regime (1.6).

The first step in the proof of Proposition 3.4 is an alternative expression for the potential function F_0 :

Lemma 3.3 (Alternative expression of F_0).

For any $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, it holds

$$F_0(t) = -f_0'^2(t) + (t + \alpha_0)^2 f_0^2(t) - \frac{1}{b} f_0^2(t) + \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(t).$$
(3.32)

Proof. We first write

$$2\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \,\left(\eta + \alpha_0\right) f_0^2(\eta) = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, f_0^2(\eta) \,\partial_\eta \left(\eta + \alpha_0\right)^2$$

and integrate by parts to obtain

$$F_0(t) = -\alpha_0^2 f_0(0)^2 + (t + \alpha_0)^2 f_0(t)^2 - 2 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \ (\eta + \alpha_0)^2 f_0(\eta) f_0'(\eta),$$

which turns into

$$F_0(t) = -\alpha_0^2 f_0^2(0) + (t + \alpha_0)^2 f_0^2(t) - 2 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, \left(f_0''(\eta) + \frac{1}{b} f_0(\eta) - \frac{1}{b} f_0^3(\eta) \right) f_0'(\eta)$$

after using the variational equation (3.15) to replace the $(\eta + \alpha_0)^2 f_0(\eta)$ term in the integral. We then use the trivial identities

$$\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, ff' = \frac{1}{2} \left[f^2 \right]_0^t, \quad \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, f''f' = \frac{1}{2} \left[(f')^2 \right]_0^t, \quad \int_0^t f^3 f' = \frac{1}{4} \left[f^4 \right]_0^t$$

and deduce (using the Neumann boundary condition satisfied by f_0 at the origin)

$$F_0(t) = -f_0'^2(t) + (t + \alpha_0)^2 f_0^2(t) - \frac{1}{b} f_0^2(t) + \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(t) - \alpha_0^2 f_0^2(0) + \frac{1}{b} f_0^2(0) - \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(0).$$

To obtain the final formula, we recall that (this is (3.24) for k = 0 and $\varepsilon = 0$)

$$F_0(+\infty) = 2 \int_0^{+\infty} d\eta \, (\eta + \alpha_0) \, f_0^2(\eta) = 0,$$

so that, by the decay of f_0 and f'_0 at $+\infty$, which can be obtained combining the pointwise estimates of Proposition 3.3 with (A.29), we deduce

$$-\alpha_0^2 f_0^2(0) + \frac{1}{b} f_0^2(0) - \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(0) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \left[-(t + \alpha_0)^2 f_0^2(t) + \frac{1}{b} f_0^2(t) - \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(t) \right] = 0,$$

and the proof is complete.

We now complete the

Proof of Proposition 3.4. Lemma 3.3 tells us that

$$K_0(t) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{b}\right) f_0^2(t) - {f_0'}^2(t) + (t + \alpha_0)^2 f_0^2(t) + \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(t).$$
(3.33)

Using the Neumann boundary condition, the decay of f_0 and its derivative and the assumption $b \ge 1$, we have

$$K_0(0) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{b}\right) f_0^2(0) + \alpha_0^2 f_0(0)^2 + \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(0) \ge 0$$

and

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} K_0(t) = 0,$$

so if K_0 became negative somewhere in \mathbb{R}^+ , it should have a global minimum at some point $t_0 > 0$. Let us then compute the derivative of K_0 : by the definition (3.30)

$$K_0'(t) = 2f_0(t)f_0'(t) + 2(t + \alpha_0)f_0^2(t),$$

so that at any critical point t_0 of K_0 we must have

$$f_0'(t_0) = -(t + \alpha_0) f_0(t_0)$$

because f_0 is strictly positive. Plugging this into (3.33) we find that at any critical point t_0 of K_0 , it also holds

$$K_0(t_0) = \left(1 - \frac{1}{b}\right) f_0^2(t_0) + \frac{1}{2b} f_0^4(t_0),$$

which is clearly positive when $b \ge 1$. We thus conclude that the minimum of K_0 must be positive, which ends the proof.

3.3 The cost function in the disc case

We now investigate the properties of the cost function associated with (3.6). The argument is essentially a perturbation of the one we gave before for the case k = 0, but, due to the presence of a non-zero curvature k, the positivity property we are after is harder to prove. Actually we are only able to prove the desired result in some subregion of I_{ε} given by

$$\bar{I}_{k,\varepsilon} := \left\{ t \in I_{\varepsilon} : f_k(t) \ge |\log \varepsilon|^3 f_k(t_{\varepsilon}) \right\},\tag{3.34}$$

which is an interval in the t variable, i.e.,

$$\bar{I}_{k,\varepsilon} = [0, \bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon}], \qquad (3.35)$$

for some $\bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon} \leq t_{\varepsilon}$. Indeed, exploiting the upper bound (3.26) on f_k , it can easily be seen that

$$f_k(t_{\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty}), \qquad (3.36)$$

so that the equality $f_k(t) = |\log \varepsilon|^3 f_k(t_{\varepsilon})$ can only be satisfied by some $t \gg 1$, i.e., by Proposition 3.1, in the region where f_k is monotonically decreasing. Therefore $\bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon}$ is unique and the lower bound (3.26) also implies

$$c \exp\left\{-\left(\bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon}+\sqrt{2}\right)^2\right\} \le C |\log \varepsilon|^3 \exp\left\{-\left(t_{\varepsilon}+\alpha_k\right)^2\right\},\,$$

which yields

$$\bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon} \ge t_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{O}\left(\log|\log\varepsilon|\right) = c_0 |\log\varepsilon| \left(1 - \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\log|\log\varepsilon|}{|\log\varepsilon|}\right)\right).$$
(3.37)

For further convenience we also introduce the constant β_{ε} explicitly given by

$$\beta_{\varepsilon} := \left[V_k(t_{\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{b} \left(1 - f_k^2(t_{\varepsilon}) \right) \right] f_k^2(t_{\varepsilon}).$$
(3.38)

We do not emphasize its dependence on k in the notation. Note that by the decay (3.26), we immediately have

$$0 \le \beta_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty}).$$

Now we introduce the cost function whose lower estimate is our main ingredient and prove its positivity in $\bar{I}_{k,\varepsilon}$:

$$K_{k}(t) = (1 - d_{\varepsilon})f_{k}^{2}(t) + F_{k}(t)$$

= $(1 - d_{\varepsilon})f_{k}^{2}(t) + 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{\eta + \alpha_{k} - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon k\eta^{2}}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta}f_{k}^{2}(\eta),$ (3.39)

where d_{ε} is a variational parameter satisfying

$$d_{\varepsilon} \lesssim |\log \varepsilon|^{-4}, \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \to 0,$$
(3.40)

that will be adjusted in the sequel of the paper and help us in proving Theorem 2.3. To get to the main point, one can simply think of the case $d_{\varepsilon} = 0$, which is sufficient for the energy estimate of Theorem 2.2.

Proposition 3.5 (Positivity of the cost function in the disc case).

For any $d \in \mathbb{R}$, $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, k > 0 and ε sufficiently small, let $K_k(t)$ be the function defined in (3.39) and $\bar{I}_{k,\varepsilon}$ the interval (3.34). Then one has

$$K_k(t) \ge 0, \quad \text{for any } t \in \bar{I}_{k,\varepsilon}.$$
 (3.41)

The proof of this lower bound is rather technical because our main results require that the complement of the region where the positivity property holds be one where the density f_k is extremely small. Indeed, note that using Proposition 3.3, f_k is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty})$ outside of $\bar{I}_{k,\varepsilon}$, and we do use this fact later in the paper. If we were allowed to work in a region where a stronger lower bound to f_k holds (say $|\log \varepsilon|$ to some negative power), the proof would be essentially identical to that of Proposition 3.4, with some additional naive bounds.

Proof of Proposition 3.5. We are going to prove that for any $t \in I_{\varepsilon}$ one has

$$f_k^2(t) + 2\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{\eta + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon k\eta^2}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} f_k^2(\eta) \ge |\log\varepsilon|^{-3} f_k^2(t) - \beta_\varepsilon, \tag{3.42}$$

so that inside $\bar{I}_{k,\varepsilon}$ we obtain

$$K_{k}(t) \geq |\log \varepsilon|^{-3} \left(1 - d_{\varepsilon} |\log \varepsilon|^{3}\right) f_{k}^{2}(t) - \beta_{\varepsilon} \geq |\log \varepsilon|^{3} \left(1 - d_{\varepsilon} |\log \varepsilon|^{3}\right) f_{k}^{2}(t_{\varepsilon}) - \beta_{\varepsilon} \\ \geq |\log \varepsilon|^{3} \left(1 - \mathcal{O}(|\log \varepsilon|^{-1})\right) f_{k}^{2}(t_{\varepsilon}) \geq 0, \quad (3.43)$$

because of the simple bound $\beta_{\varepsilon} \leq C |\log \varepsilon|^2 f_k^2(t_{\varepsilon})$ that follows directly from the definition (3.38) and Proposition 3.3. Note also that by assumption (3.40) $d_{\varepsilon} |\log \varepsilon|^3 \leq |\log \varepsilon|^{-1} \ll 1$.

In order to prove (3.42) we set

$$\tilde{K}(t) := (1 - |\log\varepsilon|^{-3}) f_k^2(t) + 2 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{\eta + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon\eta^2}{1 - \varepsilon\eta} f_k^2(\eta) + \beta_\varepsilon \tag{3.44}$$

and prove that \tilde{K} is positive in I_{ε} . For this purpose we note that, by (3.28),

$$\tilde{K}(0) = (1 - |\log\varepsilon|^{-3})f_k^2(0) + \beta_{\varepsilon} > 0, \qquad \tilde{K}(t_{\varepsilon}) = (1 - |\log\varepsilon|^{-3})f_k^2(t_{\varepsilon}) + \beta_{\varepsilon} > 0, \qquad (3.45)$$

so that, if it becomes negative for some t, it must be $0 < t < t_{\varepsilon}$. Let us then compute the derivative of \tilde{K} to find its minimum points:

$$\tilde{K}'(t) = 2(1 - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3})f_k(t)f'_k(t) + 2\frac{t + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^2}{1 - \varepsilon kt}f_k^2(t).$$
(3.46)

Let t_0 be a point where \tilde{K} reaches its global minimum and let assume that it is in the interior of I_{ε} , otherwise there is nothing to prove. Then it must be $\tilde{K}'(t_0) = 0$, i.e., thanks to the strict positivity of f_k ,

$$(1 - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3})f'_k(t_0) = -\frac{t_0 + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt_0^2}{1 - \varepsilon kt_0}f_k(t_0), \qquad (3.47)$$

and thus (recall (3.9))

$$(1 - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3})^2 f'_k{}^2(t_0) = V_k(t_0) f^2_k(t_0).$$
(3.48)

On the other hand using the identity

$$V_k'(t) = 2\frac{t + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}k\varepsilon t^2}{1 - \varepsilon kt} + \frac{2\varepsilon kV_k(t)}{1 - \varepsilon kt},$$
(3.49)

in combination with the variational equation (3.12), we get

$$2\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{\eta + \alpha_{k} - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon k\eta^{2}}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} f_{k}^{2}(\eta) = \left[V_{k}f_{k}^{2}\right]_{0}^{t} - 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \, V_{k}(\eta)f_{k}(\eta)f_{k}'(\eta) - 2\varepsilon k \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{V_{k}(\eta)}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} f_{k}^{2}(\eta) \\ = \left[V_{k}f_{k}^{2} - \frac{1}{2b}\left(2f_{k}^{2} - f_{k}^{4}\right)\right]_{0}^{t} - f_{k}'^{2}(t) + 2\varepsilon k \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \left(f_{k}'^{2} - V_{k}(\eta)f_{k}^{2}\right), \quad (3.50)$$

 $CORREGGI, \ Rougerie - Surface \ Superconductivity$

so that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{K}(t) &= (1 - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3}) f_k^2(t) + \left[V_k(\eta) f_k^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left(2f_k^2 - f_k^4 \right) \right]_0^t - {f'_k}^2(t) \\ &+ 2\varepsilon k \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \; \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \left({f'_k}^2 - V_k(\eta) f_k^2 \right) + \beta_\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Plugging (3.47) into the above expression, we obtain

$$\min_{t \in I_{\varepsilon}} \tilde{K}(t) = \tilde{K}(t_0) = \left[1 - \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{2b} f_k^2(t_0) - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3} + \left(1 - \frac{1}{(1 - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3})^2}\right) V_k(t_0)\right] f_k^2(t_0)
- \left[V_k(0) - \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{2b} f_k^2(0)\right] f_k^2(0) + 2\varepsilon k \int_0^{t_0} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \left[f_k'^2 - V_k(\eta) f_k^2\right] + \beta_{\varepsilon}. \quad (3.51)$$

However the l.h.s. of (3.50) above vanishes when $t = t_{\varepsilon}$, thanks to (3.24), and thus

$$0 = \left[V_k f_k^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left(2f_k^2 - f_k^4 \right) \right]_0^{t_{\varepsilon}} + 2\varepsilon k \int_0^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \left(f_k'^2 - V_k(\eta) f_k^2 \right), \tag{3.52}$$

which can be used in (3.51) yielding

$$\tilde{K}(t_0) \ge \left[1 - \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{2b} f_k^2(t_0) - \mathcal{O}(|\log \varepsilon|^{-1})\right] f_k^2(t_0) + 2\varepsilon k \int_{t_0}^{t_\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \left(V_k(\eta) f_k^2 - f_k'^2\right). \tag{3.53}$$

The first term on the r.h.s. of (3.53) is clearly positive thanks to the condition b > 1. Therefore to prove (3.42) and thus the result, it remains to study the last term of (3.53) and we are going to show that

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \left(V_k(\eta) f_k^2 - f_k^{\prime 2} \right) \ge -C f_k^2(t_0), \tag{3.54}$$

for some finite constant C. This in turn implies the lower bound (3.42): owing to the condition b > 1, we have

$$\tilde{K}(t_0) \ge \left[1 - \frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{2b} f_k^2(t_0) - \mathcal{O}(|\log \varepsilon|^{-1}) - C\varepsilon\right] f_k^2(t_0) \ge 0,$$
(3.55)

if ε is sufficiently small.

Let us then focus on (3.54): the key ingredient is the analysis of the function

$$g(t) := (1 - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3})f'_k(t) + \frac{t + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}k\varepsilon t^2}{1 - \varepsilon kt}f_k(t) =: (1 - |\log \varepsilon|^{-3})f'_k(t) + A(t)f_k(t), \quad (3.56)$$

which appears in (3.46), i.e., $\tilde{K}'(t) = 2f_k(t)g(t)$. Computing g'(t) using the variational equation (3.12), we get

$$g'(t) = \left[\frac{A(t)}{1 - |\log\varepsilon|^{-3}} + \frac{\varepsilon}{1 - \varepsilon t}\right] g(t) + \left[1 - \mathcal{O}(|\log\varepsilon|^{-3})V_k(t) - \frac{1 - |\log\varepsilon|^{-3}}{b}\left(1 - f_k^2(t)\right)\right] f_k(t)$$

$$\geq \left[\frac{A(t)}{1 - |\log\varepsilon|^{-3}} + \frac{\varepsilon k}{1 - \varepsilon kt}\right] g(t) + \left(1 - \frac{1}{b} - \mathcal{O}(|\log\varepsilon|^{-1})\right) f_k(t)$$

$$> \left[\frac{A(t)}{1 - |\log\varepsilon|^{-3}} + \frac{\varepsilon k}{1 - \varepsilon kt}\right] g(t), \quad (3.57)$$

by the positivity of f_k , the condition b > 1 and the bound $V_k(t) \le \mathcal{O}(|\log \varepsilon|^2)$ in I_{ε} . On the other hand at the outer boundary

$$g(t_{\varepsilon}) = A(t_{\varepsilon})f_k(t_{\varepsilon}) > 0, \qquad (3.58)$$

which in particular implies that $t_0 < t_{\varepsilon}$. We now distinguish two cases: if $t_0 \leq 2|\alpha_k|$, then the pointwise bounds (3.26) implies that $f_k(t_0) > C > 0$ and therefore

$$\tilde{K}(t_0) \ge C - \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^3) \ge 0$$

by a simple estimate of the last term in (3.53), so we are done.

From now on we may thus assume $t_0 \geq 2|\alpha_k|$. Then $A(t) \geq 0$ for any $t \geq t_0$ and t_0 is in the region where f_k is monotonically decreasing (see Proposition 3.1). We then have $g(t_0) = 0$ by (3.47) and $g'(t_0) > 0$ by (3.57). But again by (3.57), as soon as g gets positive, its derivative becomes positive too. Therefore g remains increasing and positive up to the boundary.

Using this information on g we estimate

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon k\eta} \left[V_k f_k^2 - {f'_k}^2 \right] = \int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon k\eta} \left[Af_k - f'_k \right] \left[g + |\log \varepsilon|^{-3} f'_k \right]$$

$$\geq |\log \varepsilon|^{-3} \int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon k\eta} \left[Af_k - f'_k \right] f'_k \geq -|\log \varepsilon|^{-3} \int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon k\eta} \left[V_k f_k^2 - Af_k f'_k \right], \quad (3.59)$$

where we have used that, for any $\eta \ge t_0$, $f'_k(\eta) \le 0$ and $g(\eta) \ge 0$, i.e., $f'_k(\eta) \ge -A(\eta)f_k(\eta)$. On the other hand we have the bound

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k \eta} V_k f_k^2 \le C |\log \varepsilon|^3 f_k^2(t_0),$$

again by monotonicity of f_k and we can compute

$$\begin{split} \int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} A(\eta) f_k(\eta) f_k'(\eta) &= \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{A(\eta) f_k^2(\eta)}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \right]_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{t_0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\eta \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \left(1 + \frac{2\varepsilon k A(\eta)}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} \right) f_k^2(\eta) \\ &\geq -A(t_0) f_k^2(t_0) - C f_k^2(t_0) (t_{\varepsilon} - t_0) \geq -C |\log \varepsilon| f_k^2(t_0). \end{split}$$

Putting together the above bounds with (3.59), we obtain (3.54) and thus the final result.

4 Energy Estimate for Generic Domains

In this section we prove our main result for generic domains, Theorem 2.1. We start in Section 4.1 by a standard restriction to a thin boundary layer that we will also use in the disc case. We will be a little bit sketchy since only the refinement we will need for the disc case presents some novelty.

Actually, the upper bound corresponding to (2.1) has already been proven in [AH]. The reader may easily check that nothing in the arguments therein requires any restriction on *b* beyond (1.6), as far as the energy upper bound in concerned. For shortness we state the result now, without proof:

$$E^{\mathrm{GL}} \leq \frac{|\partial \Omega| E_0^{\mathrm{1D}}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(1).$$
 (4.1)

The method of proof, described in details in [FH2, Section 14.4.2], will anyway be employed in Section 5 to obtain a refined bound in the case of the disc. Our main contribution here is to provide, in Section 4.2, a lower bound matching (4.1) in the whole regime (1.6), which will be given by the combination of (4.13) with (4.31). The cornerstone of our new method is an energy splitting combined with the use of the cost function studied in Section 3.2.

4.1 Restriction to the boundary layer and replacement of the vector potential

The first step in the proof of the lower bound is a restriction of the domain to a thin layer at the boundary of the sample together with a replacement of the minimizing vector potential \mathbf{A}^{GL} with some explicit vector potential, exploiting some known elliptic estimates on solutions to the GL equations. This step is also described in full details in [FH1, Sections 14.4.1 & Appendix F].

We first introduce appropriate boundary coordinates: for any smooth simply connected domain Ω , we denote by $\gamma(\xi) : \mathbb{R} \setminus (|\partial \Omega| \mathbb{Z}) \to \partial \Omega$ a counterclockwise parametrization of the boundary $\partial \Omega$ such that $|\gamma'(\xi)| = 1$. The unit vector directed along the inward normal to the boundary at a point $\gamma(\xi)$ will be denoted by $\nu(\xi)$. The curvature $\tilde{k}(\xi)$ is then defined through the identity

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}''(\xi) = \tilde{k}(\xi)\boldsymbol{\nu}(\xi)$$

Then we introduce the boundary layer where the whole analysis will be performed:

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon} := \left\{ \mathbf{r} \in \Omega \, | \, \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{r}, \partial \Omega) \le c_0 \varepsilon | \log \varepsilon | \right\},\tag{4.2}$$

and in such a region we can also introduce tubular coordinates (ξ, η) such that, for any given $\mathbf{r} \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}, \eta = \text{dist}(\mathbf{r}, \partial \Omega)$, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{r}(\xi,\eta) = \boldsymbol{\gamma}'(\xi) + \eta \boldsymbol{\nu}(\xi), \tag{4.3}$$

which can obviously be realized as a diffeomorphism for ε small enough. Hence the boundary layer becomes in the new coordinates (ξ, η)

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon} := \{ (\xi, \eta) \mid \xi \in [0, |\partial \Omega|], \ \tau \in [0, c_0 \varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|] \}.$$

$$(4.4)$$

The energy in the boundary layer is given by the reduced GL functional

$$\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{\varepsilon}[\psi] := \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t\right) \left\{ \left|\partial_t \psi\right|^2 + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t)^2} \left| \left(\partial_s + ia_{\varepsilon}(s,t)\right) \psi \right|^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left[2|\psi|^2 - |\psi|^4 \right] \right\}, \quad (4.5)$$

where we have rescaled coordinates $\xi =: \varepsilon s, \tau =: \varepsilon t$ and set $k(s) := \tilde{k}(\varepsilon s)$,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} := \left\{ (s,t) \in \left[0, \frac{|\partial\Omega|}{\varepsilon}\right] \times [0, c_0 |\log\varepsilon|] \right\},\tag{4.6}$$

$$a_{\varepsilon}(s,t) := -t + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon k(s)t^2 + \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon}, \qquad (4.7)$$

and

$$\delta_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\gamma_0}{\varepsilon^2} - \left\lfloor \frac{\gamma_0}{\varepsilon^2} \right\rfloor, \qquad \gamma_0 := \frac{1}{|\partial \Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}, \tag{4.8}$$

 $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$ standing for the integer part. Note that the three sets $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$, $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ describe in fact the same domain but in different coordinates.

As discussed above we manage to use all the information contained in this functional only in the case where the domain Ω is a disc, i.e., the curvature k(s) is a constant. For generic domains we make a further simplification by dropping all the terms involving k(s), which leads to the introduction of the functional

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] := \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \left\{ \left| \partial_t \psi \right|^2 + \left| \left(\partial_s + ia_0(s,t) \right) \psi \right|^2 - \frac{1}{2b} \left[2|\psi|^2 - |\psi|^4 \right] \right\},\tag{4.9}$$

where

$$a_0(s,t) := -t + \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon}. \tag{4.10}$$

Note the similarity with the half-plane functional of Section 2.3.

In the disc case we need to keep the (constant) curvature term and therefore we consider the functional

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] := \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) \left\{ \left|\partial_{t}\psi\right|^{2} + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^{2}} \left|\left(\partial_{s} + ia_{\varepsilon}(s, t)\right)\psi\right|^{2} - \frac{1}{2b} \left[2|\psi|^{2} - |\psi|^{4}\right] \right\},\tag{4.11}$$

which differs from $\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{\varepsilon}$ given in (4.5) only because of the constant curvature $k(s) \equiv k$, so that with a little abuse of notation we keep denoting

$$a_{\varepsilon}(s,t) := -t + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^2 + \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon}. \tag{4.12}$$

The link between the functionals in boundary coordinates and the original GL functional is given by the following

Proposition 4.1 (Replacement of the vector potential and restriction to $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$). For any smooth simply connected domain Ω and $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, one has the

For any smooth simply connected domain Ω and $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$, one has the lower bound

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}} \ge \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] - \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{4.13}$$

where $\psi(s,t) \in H^1(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})$ vanishes at the inner boundary of $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$,

$$\psi(s, c_0 | \log \varepsilon|) = 0, \quad \text{for any } s \in \left[0, \frac{|\partial \Omega|}{\varepsilon}\right].$$
 (4.14)

In the disc (constant curvature) case the energy lower bound reads

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}} \ge \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] - \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2 |\log \varepsilon|^2), \qquad (4.15)$$

with $\psi(s,t) = \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t))$ in $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$.

Proof. The first part of the result, i.e., the restriction to the boundary layer is in fact already proven in details in [FH1, Section 14.4]: the combination of a suitable partition of unity together with standard Agmon estimates on the decay of Ψ far from the boundary yield

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}} \ge \int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \left\{ \left| \left(\nabla + i \frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^2} \right) \Psi_1 \right|^2 - \frac{1}{2b\varepsilon^2} \left[2|\Psi_1|^2 - |\Psi_1|^4 \right] \right\} - \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty}).$$
(4.16)

Here Ψ_1 is given in terms of Ψ^{GL} in the form $\Psi_1 = f_1 \Psi^{\text{GL}}$ for some radial $0 \leq f_1 \leq 1$ with support containing the set $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$ defined by (4.2) and contained in $\{\mathbf{r} \in \Omega \mid \text{dist}(\mathbf{r}, \partial \Omega) \leq C\varepsilon \mid \log \varepsilon \mid\}$, for a possibly large constant C. Note that such an estimate requires that the constant c_0 occurring in the definition (4.2) of the boundary layer be chosen large enough. However the choice of the support of f_1 remains to any other extent arbitrary and one can clearly pick f_1 in such a way that it vanishes at the inner boundary of $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$, implying (4.14). On the other hand, in the disc case, we can stick to the choice made in [FH1, Section 14.4], e.g., $f_1 = 1$ in $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$ and going smoothly to 0 outside of it.

The second step is then the replacement of the magnetic vector potential \mathbf{A}^{GL} and a simultaneous change of coordinates $\mathbf{r} \to (s, t)$. This is done by a change of gauge: we set $\Psi_1(\mathbf{r}) = \tilde{\psi}(s, t) \exp\{i\phi_{\varepsilon}(s, t)\}$, where

$$\phi_{\varepsilon}(s,t) := -\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \boldsymbol{\nu}(\varepsilon s) \cdot \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s,\varepsilon \eta)) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{s} \mathrm{d}\xi \, \boldsymbol{\gamma}'(\varepsilon \xi) \cdot \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon \xi,0)) - \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon} s. \tag{4.17}$$

 $CORREGGI, \ Rougerie - Surface \ Superconductivity$

The function $\tilde{\psi}$ is clearly single-valued since, for any given t, $\phi_{\varepsilon}(s + n \frac{|\partial \Omega|}{\varepsilon}, t) = \phi_{\varepsilon}(s, t) + 2\pi n_{\varepsilon}$ for some integer number $n_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{Z}$. Moreover, by gauge invariance,

$$\int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \left| \left(\nabla + i \frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^2} \right) \Psi_1 \right|^2 = \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \left(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t \right) \left\{ \left| \partial_t \tilde{\psi} \right|^2 + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t)^2} \left| \left(\partial_s + i \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(s, t) \right) \tilde{\psi} \right|^2 \right\}, \quad (4.18)$$

with

$$\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(s,t) = (1 - \varepsilon k(s)t) \frac{\gamma'(\varepsilon s) \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t))}{\varepsilon} - \partial_{s} \phi_{\varepsilon} = (1 - \varepsilon k(s)t) \frac{\gamma'(\varepsilon s) \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t))}{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \, \partial_{s} \left[\boldsymbol{\nu}(\varepsilon s) \cdot \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon \eta)) \right] - \frac{\gamma'(\varepsilon s) \cdot \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, 0))}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon}, \quad (4.19)$$

since the normal component of the new vector potential vanishes:

$$\frac{\boldsymbol{\nu}(\varepsilon s) \cdot \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t))}{\varepsilon} - \partial_t \phi_{\varepsilon} = 0.$$

Hence we also have

$$\widetilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(s,0) = \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon},
\partial_{t} \widetilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(s,t) = -(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t) \left(\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A}^{\operatorname{GL}} \right) \left(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t) \right) = -(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t)(1 + f(s,t)), \quad (4.20)$$

and we have set

$$\left(\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{A}^{\operatorname{GL}}\right)\left(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t)\right) =: 1 + f(s, t), \tag{4.21}$$

for some smooth function f such that f(s,0) = 0, thanks to the boundary condition (1.12). Therefore

$$\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}(s,t) = \varepsilon \delta_{\varepsilon} - \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}\eta \left(1 - \varepsilon k(s)\eta\right) \left(1 + f(s,\eta)\right).$$
(4.22)

Hence in order to complete the replacement, we only have to replace \tilde{a}_{ε} with a_{ε} given by (4.7), which amounts to estimating the last term in (4.22):

$$\|\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon} - a_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})} \le C |\log \varepsilon| \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})}$$

but as shown in [FH1, Proof of Lemma F.1.1] one can prove the inequality

$$|f(s,t)| \le C\varepsilon t \left\|\nabla \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A}^{\operatorname{GL}}\right\|_{C^0(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_\varepsilon)}$$

which in turn yields $||f||_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2 |\log \varepsilon|)$ and

$$\|\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon} - a_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})} \le \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{3} |\log \varepsilon|^{2}), \qquad (4.23)$$

via the inequality [FH1, Eq. (11.51)]

$$\left\|\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{A}^{\operatorname{GL}}-1\right\|_{C^{1}(\overline{\Omega})} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$
 (4.24)

In the disc case $(k(s) \equiv k \text{ constant})$, the bound [FH1, Eq. (10.21)]

$$\left\|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right\|_{\infty} \le 1,\tag{4.25}$$

 $CORREGGI, \ Rougerie - Surface \ Superconductivity$

in combination with (4.23) is sufficient to obtain the result (4.15):

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon kt} \left| \left(\partial_{s}+i\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}\right) \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} &- \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon kt} \left| \left(\partial_{s}+ia_{\varepsilon}\right) \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} \\ &= -2\Im \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon kt} \left[\left(\partial_{s}+i\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}\right) \tilde{\psi} \right]^{*} \left(\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}-a_{\varepsilon}\right) \tilde{\psi} - \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon kt} \left| \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}-a_{\varepsilon} \right|^{2} \left| \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} \\ &\geq -\delta \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon kt} \left| \left(\partial_{s}+i\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}\right) \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} - \left(\frac{1}{\delta}+1\right) \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon kt} \left| \tilde{a}_{\varepsilon}-a_{\varepsilon} \right|^{2} \left| \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} \\ &\geq -\delta \int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \left\{ \left| \left(\nabla + i \frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \right) \Psi_{1} \right|^{2} - C \left(\frac{1}{\delta}+1\right) \varepsilon^{6} \left| \log \varepsilon \right|^{4} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, (1-\varepsilon kt) \left| \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} \\ &\geq -C \left[\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon} + \frac{\varepsilon^{4} \left| \log \varepsilon \right|^{4}}{\delta} \int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}} \right|^{2} \right] \geq -C \left[\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon} + \frac{C\varepsilon^{5} \left| \log \varepsilon \right|^{4}}{\delta} \right] \geq -\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2} \left| \log \varepsilon \right|^{2}), \quad (4.26) \end{split}$$

where we reconstructed the GL kinetic energy by means of (4.18), used the inequality (Agmon estimate [FH2, Eq. (12.9)], A is a fixed constant)

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{\frac{A \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{r}, \partial \Omega)}{\varepsilon}\right\} \left\{ \left|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^{2} + \varepsilon^{2} \left| \left(\nabla + i \frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^{2}}\right) \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^{2} \right\} \\ \leq \int_{\operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{r}, \partial \Omega) \leq \varepsilon} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \left|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^{2} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \quad (4.27)$$

and finally optimized over δ . Note that here we have used the assumption b > 1 to apply [FH2, Theorem 12.2.1]; (4.27) is wrong without this assumption.

For generic domains a rougher estimate is even sufficient:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon kt} \left| \left(\partial_{s} + i\tilde{a}_{\varepsilon} \right) \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} - \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon kt} \left| \left(\partial_{s} + ia_{\varepsilon} \right) \tilde{\psi} \right|^{2} \\ &\geq -C\varepsilon^{3} |\log \varepsilon|^{2} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left[|\partial_{s}\psi| + |a_{\varepsilon}| \, |\psi| \right] \geq -C\varepsilon^{5/2} |\log \varepsilon|^{3/2} \left[\left\| \partial_{s}\psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})} + \left\| t\psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})} \right] \\ &\geq -\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2} |\log \varepsilon|^{3/2}), \quad (4.28) \end{split}$$

thanks again to the Agmon estimate (4.27), which after rescaling becomes

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \left(1 - \varepsilon k(s)t\right) e^{At} \left\{ \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t)) \right|^{2} + \left| \left(\nabla_{s,t} + i \frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t))}{\varepsilon} \right) \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t)) \right|^{2} \right\} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-1}). \quad (4.29)$$

Note that, since $\psi(s,t) = (f_1 \Psi^{\text{GL}}) (\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t))$, one would also need to control the terms involving the gradient of f_1 . However thanks to the freedom in the choice of the support of f_1 as well as its smoothness, we can always assume that such terms are smaller or at most of the same order as those we estimated above.

To complete the proof for generic domains, it remains to estimate the errors due to the curvature terms dropped in (4.9), but one can easily realize that such terms are all bounded by quantities of the form

$$\varepsilon \left| \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, k(s) t \left\{ \left| \nabla \psi \right|^{2} + \left| \psi \right|^{2} \right\} \right| \leq C \varepsilon \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, t \left\{ \left| \nabla \psi \right|^{2} + \left| \psi \right|^{2} \right\} \leq \mathcal{O}(1), \tag{4.30}$$

again by (4.29).

4.2 Lower bound in the boundary layer

We now provide our main new argument in the case of generic domains, namely we bound the rescaled functional $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}$ from below:

Proposition 4.2 (Lower bound to $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}$).

For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, ε small enough and $\psi \in H^1(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})$ satisfying the boundary condition (4.14), it holds

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] \geq \frac{|\partial\Omega| E_0^{1D}}{\varepsilon}.$$
(4.31)

A crucial ingredient of the proof of the above result is the following Lemma. We are going to use the notation

$$(iu, \partial_s u) := \frac{i}{2} \left(u \partial_s u^* - u^* \partial_s u \right) \tag{4.32}$$

for the s-component of the superconducting current associated with u.

Lemma 4.1 (Energy splitting for generic domains).

Under the assumptions of Proposition 4.2, define u(s,t) by setting

$$\psi(s,t) = u(s,t)f_0(t)\exp\left\{-i\left(\alpha_0 + \varepsilon\delta_\varepsilon\right)s\right\}.$$
(4.33)

Then one has

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] = \frac{|\partial\Omega| E_0^{\mathrm{1D}}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{E}_0[u], \qquad (4.34)$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}[u] := \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_{0}^{2}(t) \, \bigg\{ \left| \partial_{t} u \right|^{2} + \left| \partial_{s} u \right|^{2} - 2(t + \alpha_{0})(iu, \partial_{s} u) + \frac{1}{2b} f_{0}^{2}(t) \left(1 - |u|^{2} \right)^{2} \bigg\}.$$
(4.35)

Proof. Note first that since $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, f_0 is strictly positive everywhere, so that (4.33) makes sense. Because of the phase factor, u needs not be periodic in the s variable, contrarily to ψ , but this will be of no concern to us since it is sufficient for the rest of the argument that |u| is periodic. We have

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, |\partial_t \psi|^2 = \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left\{ f_0^2 |\partial_t u|^2 + f_0 \partial_t f_0 \partial_t |u|^2 + |u|^2 |\partial_t f_0|^2 \right\}$$

and an integration by parts in t shows that

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_0 \partial_t f_0 \partial_t |u|^2 = -\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, |u|^2 |\partial_t f_0|^2 - \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_0 |u|^2 \partial_t^2 f_0.$$

Indeed the boundary terms vanish because of the Neumann boundary condition satisfied by f_0 at t = 0 and the Dirichlet condition satisfied by u at $t = c_0 |\log \varepsilon|$, inherited from (4.14). Then inserting the variational equation (3.15), we obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, |\partial_t \psi|^2 = \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_0^2 |\partial_t u|^2 + \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_0 |u|^2 \left(-V_0 f_0 + \frac{1}{b} f_0 \left(1 - f_0^2 \right) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_0 |u|^2 \left(-V_0 f_0 + \frac{1}{b} f_0 \left(1 - f_0^2 \right) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_0 |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_0 |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}s$$

On the other hand, by the definition of $V_0(t) = (\alpha_0 + t)^2$ and (4.10),

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left| \left(\partial_s + ia_0 \right) \psi \right|^2 = \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \left\{ f_0^2 |\partial_s u|^2 + V_0 f_0^2 |u|^2 - 2(t + \alpha_0)(iu, \partial_s u) \right\},$$

so that grouping terms together and using the k = 0, $\varepsilon = 0$ version of (3.14), recalling that we work on a rectangle whose length in the s direction is $|\partial \Omega|/\varepsilon$, we obtain the desired formula.

We can now conclude the

Proof of Proposition 4.2. In this proof ψ denotes the GL order parameter after the gauge choice, localization to the boundary and change of coordinates we have described up to now. We define u as in (4.33) and start from (4.34) so that we only have to bound $\mathcal{E}_0[u]$ from below.

We integrate by parts the momentum term (second term of (5.13)), using the potential function $F_0(t)$ defined in (3.27), i.e.,

$$F_0(t) = 2 \int_0^t d\eta \, (\eta + \alpha_0) \, f_0^2(\eta)$$

which satisfies $F_0(0) = 0$ and

$$\partial_t F_0(t) = -2 \left(t + \alpha_0\right) f_0^2(t).$$

This gives

$$-2\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \ f_{0}^{2}(t) \left(t+\alpha_{0}\right) \left(iu,\partial_{s}u\right) = -\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \ \partial_{t}F_{0}(t) \left(iu,\partial_{s}u\right) \\ = \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \ F_{0}(t)\partial_{t} \left(iu,\partial_{s}u\right) \quad (4.36)$$

by integrating by parts in the t variable. Boundary terms vanish because $F_0 = 0$ and u = 0 respectively at t = 0 and $t = c_0 |\log \varepsilon|$.

A further integration by parts in s then yields that for each fixed t

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \,\partial_t \left(iu, \partial_s u \right) = \int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \left[i\partial_t u \partial_s u^* - i\partial_t u^* \partial_s u \right] + \left[u\partial_t u^* + u^* \partial_t u \right]_{0}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{\varepsilon}} = \int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \left[i\partial_t u \partial_s u^* - i\partial_t u^* \partial_s u \right].$$

The boundary terms vanish because, since ψ is periodic in the *s* variable (by continuity of the GL order parameter), so is $u\partial_t u^*$, as one can easily check. We may then write

$$-2\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_{0}^{2}(t) \left(t+\alpha_{0}\right) \left(iu,\partial_{s}u\right) = \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, F_{0}(t)\partial_{t} \left(iu,\partial_{s}u\right) \ge -2\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left|F_{0}(t)\right| \left|\partial_{t}u\right| \left|\partial_{s}u\right| \\ \ge \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, F_{0}(t) \left[\left|\partial_{t}u\right|^{2}+\left|\partial_{s}u\right|^{2}\right], \quad (4.37)$$

where we have used the inequality $ab \leq (a^2 + b^2)/2$ and the fact that $F_0(t)$ is negative for any $(s,t) \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ (see Lemma 3.2).

Inserting the above lower bound in (4.35), we get

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}[u] \geq \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, K_{0}(t) \left[\left| \partial_{t} u \right|^{2} + \left| \partial_{s} u \right|^{2} \right] + \frac{1}{2b} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t f_{0}^{4} \left(1 - \left| u \right|^{2} \right)^{2}, \tag{4.38}$$

where $K_0(t)$ is the cost function defined in (3.30). By Proposition 3.5, K_0 is positive in $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ and we can thus drop the first term as far as a lower bound is concerned, obtaining

$$\mathcal{E}_0[u] \ge \frac{1}{2b} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t f_0^4 \left(1 - |u|^2\right)^2 \ge 0, \tag{4.39}$$

which leads to (4.31).

27

Note that putting (4.1), (4.13), (4.33), (4.34) and (4.39) together, we obtain as a by-product

$$\frac{1}{2b} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \left(f_0^2 - |\psi|^2\right)^2 = \frac{1}{2b} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t f_0^4 \left(1 - |u|^2\right)^2 \le \mathcal{O}(1),\tag{4.40}$$

which is essentially (2.2). Indeed, once expressed in the original variables, this yields the estimate

$$\left\| |\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}|^2 - \left| f_0\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right) \right|^2 \right\|_{L^2(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon})} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2),$$

but using the usual decay estimates, one easily sees that the region $\Omega \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$ contributes a $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty})$ to the integral, and also that (recall (3.26))

$$\left\|\left|f_0\left(\frac{\eta}{\varepsilon}\right)\right|^2\right\|_{L^2(\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon})} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

5 Surface Behavior for Disc Samples

The refinements we obtain in the disc case are based primarily on the fact that, the curvature being constant, the effective problem obtained from the ansatz (3.4) stays 1D even when considering subleading corrections to the energy. This allows us to go one term further in the energy expansion, which is the content of Theorem 2.2, whose proof is provided in Sections 5.1 and 5.2. As a by-product we obtain a refined control of crucial terms in the reduced energy of any minimizer, that lead to the proof of Theorem 2.3, once combined with appropriate gradient estimates. The crucial physical point here is that, while the estimates for generic domains in (2.2) are still compatible with small normal inclusions in the boundary layer, the refinements obtained in the case of the disc are not because of some natural bounds on the gradient of the order parameter proven in [Alm].

Theorem 2.2 is proven by comparing appropriate upper and lower bounds to the GL energy. The upper bound is discussed in Proposition 5.1, whereas the lower bound is obtained by combining (4.15) in Proposition 4.1 with the result of Proposition 5.2 below.

5.1 Energy upper bound

The upper bound part of the proof of Theorem 2.2 is as usual the easiest one to get, since it suffices to provide a suitable trial configuration $(\Psi_{\text{trial}}, \mathbf{A}_{\text{trial}}) \in \mathscr{D}^{\text{GL}}$ to test the GL energy. We already know that, according to the magnetic field replacement and restriction to the boundary layer discussed in Section 4.1, the vector potential $\mathbf{A}_{\text{trial}}$ should be equal or close enough to the one associated with the applied field and the order parameter Ψ_{trial} should be essentially supported in the boundary layer $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$. Moreover, as suggested by our heuristic analysis, the modulus of Ψ_{trial} should be given by the 1D profile minimizing (3.6) with α equal to the optimal phase α_k . Finally the winding number of Ψ_{trial} should be approximated by the optimal value α_k (actually $\frac{\alpha_k}{\varepsilon}$ after the proper rescaling), so that the phase of Ψ_{trial} should have the form $i\frac{\alpha_k}{\varepsilon}\vartheta$. Now this last requirement is the only non-trivial one to meet, since the trial function Ψ_{trial} must be a single-valued function. Unfortunately in general $\frac{\alpha_k}{\varepsilon}$ is not an integer and therefore not an allowed phase. To overcome this problem we prove the following

Lemma 5.1 (Optimal integer phase).

For any k > 0 and ε small enough, let $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and E_k^{1D} be defined as in (3.23) and set

$$\tilde{\alpha}_k := \varepsilon \left\lfloor \frac{\alpha_k}{\varepsilon} \right\rfloor. \tag{5.1}$$

Then one has

$$E_k^{\rm 1D} \le \mathcal{E}_{k,\tilde{\alpha}_k}^{\rm 1D}[f_k] \le E_k^{\rm 1D} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2 |\log \varepsilon|).$$
(5.2)

Proof. The inequality $E_k^{1D} \leq E_{k,\tilde{\alpha}_k}^{1D}$ is trivial. Exploiting the optimality of α_k (3.24) as well as the bound (3.13), one obtains the opposite inequality (recall that $f_k = f_{k,\alpha_k}$):

$$\mathcal{E}_{k,\tilde{\alpha}_{k}}^{1\mathrm{D}}[f_{k}] = E_{k}^{1\mathrm{D}} + \int_{0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}t \, (1 - \varepsilon kt)^{-1} \left\{ \tilde{\alpha}_{k}^{2} - \alpha_{k}^{2} + 2 \left(\tilde{\alpha}_{k} - \alpha_{k} \right) \left(t - \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon kt^{2} \right) \right\} f_{k}^{2}$$
$$= E_{k}^{1\mathrm{D}} + \left(\tilde{\alpha}_{k}^{2} - \alpha_{k}^{2} \right) \int_{0}^{t_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}t \, (1 - \varepsilon kt)^{-1} f_{k}^{2} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2} |\log \varepsilon|), \quad (5.3)$$

since $\tilde{\alpha}_k^2 - \alpha_k^2 = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$.

Proposition 5.1 (Energy upper bound for disc samples). Let Ω be a disc of radius $R = k^{-1} > 0$. For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$ and ε sufficiently small, we have the upper bound

$$E_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}} \leq \frac{2\pi R \, E_k^{\mathrm{1D}}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|). \tag{5.4}$$

Proof. We denote radial coordinates by (r, ϑ) and define our trial order parameter as

$$\Psi_{\text{trial}}(\mathbf{r}) := \begin{cases} f_k\left(\frac{1-r}{\varepsilon}\right) \exp\left\{i\left\lfloor\frac{\alpha_k}{\varepsilon}\right\rfloor\vartheta\right\}, & \text{in } \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}, \\ f_k(t_{\varepsilon})\chi(r) \exp\left\{i\left\lfloor\frac{\alpha_k}{\varepsilon}\right\rfloor\vartheta\right\}, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

with χ a smooth cut-off function such that $\chi(1 - \varepsilon t_{\varepsilon}) = 1$ and going to zero exponentially fast for smaller r. The trial magnetic field on the other hand has to be close to the minimizing one and we then pick

$$\mathbf{A}_{\text{trial}}(\mathbf{r}) := -\frac{1}{2} \left(1 - r^2 \right) \mathbf{e}_{\vartheta} \tag{5.6}$$

as our trial vector potential. Now, thanks to the exponential smallness of $f_k(t_{\varepsilon})$ in ε , we can always choose the cut-off χ in such a way that the contribution to the GL energy coming from outside $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$ is itself $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty})$. Hence a rather straightforward computation yields

$$\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{GL}}\left[\Psi_{\mathrm{trial}}, \mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{trial}}\right] = \tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}\left[f_{k}(t) \exp\left\{i\tilde{\alpha}_{k}s\right\}\right] + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty}), \tag{5.7}$$

with $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}$ standing for the functional (4.11) where a_{ε} has been replaced with

$$-t + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon t^2. \tag{5.8}$$

Then it is trivial to verify that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}\left[f_{k}(t)\exp\left\{i\tilde{\alpha}_{k}s\right\}\right] = \frac{2\pi R \,\mathcal{E}_{k,\tilde{\alpha}_{k}}^{1\mathrm{D}}\left[f_{k}\right]}{\varepsilon} \le \frac{2\pi R \,E_{k}^{1\mathrm{D}}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon|\log\varepsilon|),\tag{5.9}$$

thanks to Lemma 5.1 above.

5.2Energy lower bound

Our starting point is the inequality (4.15), which allows to restrict the GL energy to the (rescaled) boundary layer $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$. In this section we present a refined analysis of the functional $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}$, which leads to the following main result:

Proposition 5.2 (Lower bound to $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}$).

Let Ω be a disc of radius $R = k^{-1} > 0$. For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, c_0 large enough and $\psi(s,t) = 0$. $\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t)), it holds$

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] \ge \frac{2\pi R \, E_k^{\mathrm{1D}}}{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty}) \tag{5.10}$$

in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$.

As for generic domains the first step towards the proof of the above result is an improved energy splitting associating $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}$ with a reduced energy functional where f_k appears as a weight. Recall the definition of the superconducting current given in (4.32).

Lemma 5.2 (Energy splitting for disc samples).

Under the same assumptions of Proposition 5.2, define u(s,t) by setting

$$\psi(s,t) = f_k(t) u(s,t) \exp\left\{-i\left(\alpha_k + \varepsilon \delta_\varepsilon\right)s\right\},\tag{5.11}$$

where δ_{ε} is defined in (3.3). Then one has the identity

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}}[\psi] = \frac{2\pi R \, E_k^{\rm 1D}}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{E}_k[u],\tag{5.12}$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{k}[u] := \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{2}(t) \left\{ \left[\left|\partial_{t} u\right|^{2} + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^{2}} \left|\partial_{s} u\right|^{2} \right] - 2b_{k}(t) \left(iu, \partial_{s} u\right) + \frac{1}{2b} f_{k}^{2}(t) \left(1 - |u|^{2}\right)^{2} \right\}, \quad (5.13)$$

$$b_k(t) := \frac{t + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon kt^2}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^2}.$$
(5.14)

Proof. Note that (5.11) makes sense in view of Corollary 3.1 and the assumption $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$. The proof is essentially identical to that of Lemma 4.1. Note that as in Lemma 4.1 u needs not be periodic in the s variable since in general $\frac{\alpha_k}{\varepsilon} + \delta_{\varepsilon}$ is not an integer number. However this does not matter in the proof of (5.12) and for later purposes (see the proof of Proposition 5.2) we stress that, unlike u itself, $u^* \partial_t u$ is periodic in s with period $\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}$.

The key point is again the computation of the t-component of the kinetic energy, which proceeds as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) \left|\partial_{t}\psi\right|^{2} &= \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) \left\{f_{k}^{2} \left|\partial_{t}u\right|^{2} + f_{k} \partial_{t} f_{k} \partial_{t} \left|u\right|^{2} + \left|u\right|^{2} \left|\partial_{t} f_{k}\right|^{2}\right\}, \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{2} \left|\partial_{t}u\right|^{2} - \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, f_{k} \left|u\right|^{2} \partial_{t} \left(\left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) \partial_{t} f_{k}\right) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{2} \left|\partial_{t}u\right|^{2} + \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{2} \left|u\right|^{2} \left(-V_{k} f_{k} + \frac{1}{b} f_{k} \left(1 - f_{k}^{2}\right)\right), \end{aligned}$$
(5.15)

where we have used the Neumann boundary conditions satisfied by f_k at both boundaries of the interval I_{ε} and the variational equation (3.12) for $\alpha = \alpha_k$ rewritten as

$$-\partial_t \left(\left(1 - \varepsilon kt \right) \partial_t f_k \right) + \left(1 - \varepsilon kt \right) f_k \left(V_k - \frac{1}{b} f_k \left(1 - f_k^2 \right) \right) = 0$$

The computation of the other terms in the functional is trivial and there only remains to group them properly and use (3.14) and the definition (3.9) to conclude.

We may now complete the proof of the lower bound (5.10). By Lemma 5.2, it suffices to bound from below the energy $\mathcal{E}_k[u]$ given by (5.13). In comparison with the corresponding step in Section 4.2, we face the technical difficulty that we do not know that the relevant cost function is positive in the whole domain but only in

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon} := \{ (s,t) \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}, \ t \le \bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon} \}$$
(5.16)

where $\bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon}$ is defined at the beginning of Section 3.3 and satisfies (3.37). The complementary region $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}$ is dealt with by more "brute force" estimates showing that its final contribution to the energy is at most $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\infty})$.

Proof of Proposition 5.2. In this proof, ψ and u are defined starting from a GL minimizer as in the statement of Proposition 5.2. We again start by rewriting the momentum term (second term of (5.13)). The potential function $F_k(t)$ defined in (3.27) satisfies

$$\partial_t F_k(t) = -2(1 - \varepsilon kt)b_k(t)f_k^2(t),$$

and $F_k(0) = F_k(t_{\varepsilon}) = 0$, so that

$$-2\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \,\left(1-\varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{2}(t)b_{k}(t)\left(iu,\partial_{s}u\right) = \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \,F_{k}(t)\partial_{t}\left(iu,\partial_{s}u\right).$$
(5.17)

As before, a further integration by parts in the s yields for each fixed t (here we are using the s-periodicity of $u^* \partial_t u$)

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \,\partial_t \left(iu, \partial_s u \right) = \int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \left[i\partial_t u \partial_s u^* - i\partial_t u^* \partial_s u \right],\tag{5.18}$$

so that we can easily bound in $\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}$

$$\int_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \; F_k(t) \partial_t \left(iu, \partial_s u \right) \ge -2 \int_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \; |F_k(t)| \left| \partial_t u \right| \left| \partial_s u \right| \\
\ge \int_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \left(1 - \varepsilon kt \right) F_k(t) \left[\left| \partial_t u \right|^2 + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^2} \left| \partial_s u \right|^2 \right], \quad (5.19)$$

where we have used the inequality $ab \leq \frac{1}{2}(\delta a^2 + \delta^{-1}b^2)$ and the fact that $F_k(t)$ is negative for any $(s,t) \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ (see Lemma 3.2). Combining the above lower bound with (5.17) and dropping the part of the kinetic energy located in $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}$, we get

$$\mathcal{E}_{k}[u] \geq \int_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) K_{k}(t) \left[\left|\partial_{t} u\right|^{2} + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^{2}} \left|\partial_{s} u\right|^{2} \right] + \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, F_{k}(t) \partial_{t} \left(iu, \partial_{s} u\right) \\ + d_{\varepsilon} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{2} \left[\left|\partial_{t} u\right|^{2} + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^{2}} \left|\partial_{s} u\right|^{2} \right] + \frac{1}{2b} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{4} \left(1 - |u|^{2}\right)^{2},$$

$$\tag{5.20}$$

where $K_k(t)$ is the cost function defined in (3.39), for some given d_{ε} , satisfying (3.40).

By Proposition 3.5, K_k is positive inside $\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}$ and we can thus drop the first term from the lower bound. The main point is now to control the second term. For this purpose we act as in (5.19) to write

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, F_k(t) \partial_t \left(iu, \partial_s u \right) \ge 2 \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, F_k(t) \left| \partial_t u \right| \left| \partial_s u \right|, \tag{5.21}$$

and then notice that f_k is decreasing in $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \overline{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}$, so that we can estimate

$$|F_k(t)| = -F_k(t) = \int_{t_{\varepsilon}}^t d\eta \, \frac{\eta + \alpha_k - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon k\eta^2}{1 - \varepsilon k\eta} f_k^2(\eta) \le C |\log \varepsilon|^2 f_k^2(t), \tag{5.22}$$

because F_k vanishes at the boundaries of I_{ε} and $I_{\varepsilon} \setminus \overline{I}_{k,\varepsilon}$ has a measure $\mathcal{O}(|\log \varepsilon|)$ by (3.37). Moreover, thanks to the bound (A.28), we also have

$$\left|\partial_{s} u\right| \le f_{k}^{-1}(t) \left|\partial_{s} \psi(s, t)\right|, \qquad (5.23)$$

$$|\partial_t u| \le f_k^{-2}(t) |f_k'(t)| |\psi(s,t)| + f_k^{-1}(t) |\partial_t \psi(s,t)| \le C f_k^{-1}(t) \left[|\log \varepsilon|^3 |\psi(s,t)| + |\partial_t \psi(s,t)| \right],$$
(5.24)

 $CORREGGI, \ Rougerie - Surface \ Superconductivity$

and therefore

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \; F_{k}(t) \partial_{t} \left(iu, \partial_{s} u \right) \geq -C |\log \varepsilon|^{2} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \; \left[|\log \varepsilon|^{3} |\psi| + |\nabla \psi| \right] |\nabla \psi| \,. \tag{5.25}$$

Now, since $\psi(s,t) = \Psi^{\text{GL}}(\mathbf{r}(\varepsilon s, \varepsilon t))$, $\mathbf{r}(s,t)$ standing for the diffeomorphism given by the change into rescaled boundary coordinates, we may use the Agmon estimate (4.27). It implies, for some finite constant A > 0,

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left| \nabla \psi \right|^2 \le e^{-A\bar{t}_{k,\varepsilon}} \int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{ \frac{A(1-r)}{\varepsilon} \right\} \left| \nabla \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}} \right|^2 \le C\varepsilon^{-1+c_0A} |\log \varepsilon|^{2+\beta} \tag{5.26}$$

for some finite $\beta > 0$, since $t_{\varepsilon,k} = c_0 |\log \varepsilon| - \mathcal{O}(\log |\log \varepsilon|)$ by (3.37) and therefore

$$e^{-A\bar{t}_{\varepsilon}} = \varepsilon^{c_0 A} |\log \varepsilon|^{\beta}.$$

Note that the Agmon estimate actually gives

$$\int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{\frac{A(1-r)}{\varepsilon}\right\} \left| \left(\nabla + i\frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^2}\right) \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}} \right|^2 \le \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-1}),$$

but it is not difficult to bound from below the l.h.s. of such an expression by

$$\left[\left(\int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{ \frac{A(1-r)}{\varepsilon} \right\} \left| \nabla \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}} \right|^2 \right)^{1/2} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \left(\int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{ \frac{A(1-r)}{\varepsilon} \right\} \left| \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}} \right|^2 \left| \Psi^{\mathrm{GL}} \right|^2 \right)^{1/2} \right]^2,$$

so that, since $|\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}| = \mathcal{O}(1-r)$ inside $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}$, we can conclude that

$$\int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{\frac{A(1-r)}{\varepsilon}\right\} \left|\nabla\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{4}} \int_{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{\frac{A(1-r)}{\varepsilon}\right\} \left|\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^{2} \left|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-1}) \\ \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-1}|\log\varepsilon|^{2}), \quad (5.27)$$

which is the bound used in (5.26). In a similar way we can also bound

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, |\psi|^2 \leq \varepsilon^{-2} e^{-A\bar{t}_{\varepsilon}} \int_{\bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r} \, \exp\left\{\frac{At}{\varepsilon}\right\} \left|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|^2 \leq C\varepsilon^{-1+c_0A} |\log\varepsilon|^{\beta}. \tag{5.28}$$

Hence putting together (5.25), (5.26) and (5.28) and using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have proved

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \bar{\mathcal{A}}_{k,\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \; F_k(t) \partial_t \left(iu, \partial_s u \right) \ge -C\varepsilon^{-1+c_0 A} |\log \varepsilon|^{4+\beta}$$

and thus, going back to (5.20) and dropping the positive terms

$$\mathcal{E}_k[u] \ge -C\varepsilon^{-1+c_0A} |\log\varepsilon|^{4+\beta}.$$

Taking c_0 large enough, this can be made smaller than any power of ε , so in combination with (5.12) it yields (5.10).

We note that to obtain the energy lower bound we have dropped some positive terms (second line of (5.20)), so the proof above actually provides a control of these terms, which is the content of

Corollary 5.1 (Reduced energy bound).

Under the same assumptions of Proposition 5.2 and for any d_{ε} such that $d_{\varepsilon} \leq |\log \varepsilon|^{-4}$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$d_{\varepsilon} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{2} \left[\left|\partial_{t} u\right|^{2} + \frac{1}{(1 - \varepsilon kt)^{2}} \left|\partial_{s} u\right|^{2} \right] \\ + \frac{1}{2b} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, \left(1 - \varepsilon kt\right) f_{k}^{4} \left(1 - |u|^{2}\right)^{2} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|).$$
(5.29)

Note that (2.5) follows from the above in the same way as (2.2) followed from (4.40). In the next Section we show how to deduce our other results about the GL order parameter from Corollary 5.1.

5.3 Uniform estimates on the density $|\Psi^{\text{GL}}|^2$

Before proceeding let us define $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{bl}$ as the region \mathcal{A}_{bl} (see (2.6) for its definition) in the scaled boundary variables (s, t)

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{bl} := \{ (s, t) \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} : f_k(t) \ge \gamma_{\varepsilon} \}.$$
(5.30)

Corollary 5.1 clearly says that, roughly speaking, |u| can not differ too much from 1 inside A_{bl} where the density f_k^2 is large enough. In order to extract from this fact a pointwise estimate of |u| that will lead to (2.8), another ingredient is needed:

Lemma 5.3 (Gradient bound for |u|).

Let Ω be a disc of radius $R = k^{-1} > 0$. For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$ and ε sufficiently small, we have

$$|\nabla|u|(s,t)| \le \frac{C|\log\varepsilon|^3}{f_k(t)},\tag{5.31}$$

for any $(s,t) \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$.

Proof. From the definition of u (5.11), we immediately have

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla|u|(s,t)| &\leq f_k^{-2}(t) \left| f_k'(t) \right| \left| \psi(s,t) \right| + f_k^{-1}(t) \left| \nabla_{s,t} \left| \psi(s,t) \right| \right| \\ &\leq C f_k^{-1}(t) \left[\left| \log \varepsilon \right|^3 + \left| \nabla_{s,t} \left| \psi(s,t) \right| \right] \right], \end{aligned}$$
(5.32)

where we have used (A.28). The result is then a consequence of [Alm, Theorem 2.1] or [AH, Eq. (4.9)] in combination with the diamagnetic inequality (see, e.g., [LL]), which yield

$$\left|\nabla \left|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right|\right| \leq \left|\left(\nabla + i\frac{\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{GL}}}{\varepsilon^{2}}\right)\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}\right| \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-1}) \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \left|\nabla_{s,t} \left|\psi(s,t)\right|\right| \leq \mathcal{O}(1).$$
(5.33)

Proof of Theorem 2.3. The argument has been used many times in the literature since its first appearance in [BBH]. For contradiction, suppose that there is a point $(s_0, t_0) \in \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{bl}$ such that

$$|1 - |u(s_0, t_0)|| \ge \sigma_{\varepsilon},\tag{5.34}$$

where

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\varepsilon^{1/4} |\log \varepsilon|^2}{\gamma_{\varepsilon}^{3/2}} \ll 1, \tag{5.35}$$

by the assumptions on γ_{ε} (2.7). Then by (5.31)

$$|\nabla|u|(s,t)| \le C\gamma_{\varepsilon}^{-1}|\log\varepsilon|^3,\tag{5.36}$$

inside $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{bl}$ and there would exist a ball $\mathcal{B}_{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}(s_0, t_0)$ centered at (s_0, t_0) of radius

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(\gamma_{\varepsilon} |\log \varepsilon|^{-3} \sigma_{\varepsilon}), \tag{5.37}$$

such that

$$|1 - |u(s,t)|| \ge \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{\varepsilon},\tag{5.38}$$

for any $(s,t) \in \mathcal{B}_{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}(s_0,t_0) \cap \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{bl}$. Therefore we could bound from below the potential energy appearing in (5.29) as follows⁷

$$\int_{\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, (1-\varepsilon t) f_k^4 \left(1-|u|^2\right)^2 \ge \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}(s_0,t_0)} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \, (1-\varepsilon t) f_k^4 \left(1-|u|^2\right)^2 \\\ge C \gamma_{\varepsilon}^4 \varrho_{\varepsilon}^2 \sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 = C\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^2 \quad (5.39)$$

which would contradict the upper bound (5.29). Hence for any $(s,t) \in \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{bl}$

$$|1 - |u(s,t)|| \le \sigma_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1/4} \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{-3/2} |\log \varepsilon|^2).$$
(5.40)

It is then straightforward to deduce the final result by simply translating the above bound into one on Ψ^{GL} (recall (5.11)).

5.4 Circulation estimate

The main point for the proof of the circulation estimate is a bound on the circulation of u at the boundary, which is contained in next

Lemma 5.4 (Circulation of u on $\partial \Omega$).

Let Ω be a disc of radius $R = k^{-1} > 0$. For any $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$ and ε sufficiently small,

$$\left| \int_{0}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \, \left(iu(s,0), \partial_{s}u(s,0) \right) \right| \leq \mathcal{O}(|\log\varepsilon|^{3}).$$
(5.41)

Proof. The idea of the proof is the same as [CPRY3, Lemma 3.5]. We use a cut-off function to estimate the circulation integral in terms of a volume integral over a thin layer around the boundary. The width of such a layer is to some extent arbitrary but for later purposes it must be o(1) is the rescaled normal coordinate t. For the sake of clarity we fix from the outset such a width equal to $|\log \varepsilon|^{-1}$.

Let $\chi(t)$ be a smooth cut-off function satisfying the properties

$$\operatorname{supp}(\chi) \subset [0, |\log \varepsilon|^{-1}], \qquad \chi \le 1, \qquad \chi(0) = 1, \qquad \chi(|\log \varepsilon|^{-1}) = 0, \tag{5.42}$$

$$|\partial_t \chi| \le \mathcal{O}(|\log \varepsilon|). \tag{5.43}$$

Then we can write by means of integration by parts

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \, \left(iu(s,0), \partial_{s}u(s,0)\right) = \int_{0}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{|\log\varepsilon|^{-1}} \mathrm{d}t \left\{\partial_{t}\chi\left(iu, \partial_{s}u\right) + \chi\partial_{t}\left(iu, \partial_{s}u\right)\right\}.$$
(5.44)

Hence we can bound the modulus of the r.h.s. of the above expression as

$$\left| \int_{0}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \, (iu(s,0), \partial_{s}u(s,0)) \right| \leq \int_{0}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{|\log\varepsilon|^{-1}} \mathrm{d}t \left\{ C |\log\varepsilon| |u| |\nabla u| + 2 |\nabla u|^{2} \right\} \\ \leq C \left[\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon} + \left(1 + \frac{|\log\varepsilon|}{\delta} \right) \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})}^{2} \right], \quad (5.45)$$

⁷Actually the entire ball $\mathcal{B}_{\varrho_{\varepsilon}}(s_0, t_0)$ might not be contained in $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$, if the point is close to the boundary, but in this case one can arrange this set in such a way that at least half the ball is included.

where we have used Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the estimate (5.40) and introduced a variational parameter δ to optimize over. Then it suffices to exploit (5.29) proven in Corollary 5.1, which yields

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon})}^2 \le \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^5), \tag{5.46}$$

where we have chosen $d_{\varepsilon} = |\log \varepsilon|^4$ to meet the condition (3.40), and pick $\delta = \varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^3$ to get the final result.

We can now address the proof of the winding number estimate:

Proof of Theorem 2.4. We first note that thanks to the definition of ψ we have $\psi(s,0) =$ $\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(R,\varepsilon s)$, where we have used polar coordinates $\mathbf{r} = (r,\vartheta)$ for Ψ^{GL} . Hence the decomposition (5.11) together with the strict positivity of $f_k(0)$ by (3.26) and the estimate of |u| (5.40) imply that Ψ^{GL} does not vanish on $\partial\Omega$ and its winding number is thus well defined. Note that the positivity of $f_k(0)$ requires the condition $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$. Moreover $f_k(0)$ is separated from 0 independently of ε again by (3.26), so that (5.40) holds true with $\gamma_{\varepsilon} = \text{const.}$

We thus have

$$2\pi \deg \left(\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}, \partial\Omega\right) = -i \int_{0}^{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\vartheta \, \frac{|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(R,\vartheta)|}{\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(R,\vartheta)} \partial_{\vartheta} \left(\frac{\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(R,\vartheta)}{|\Psi^{\mathrm{GL}}(R,\vartheta)|}\right) \\ = -i \int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \, \frac{|u(s,0)|e^{i(\alpha_{k}+\varepsilon\delta_{\varepsilon})s}}{u(s,0)} \partial_{s} \left(\frac{u(s,0)e^{-i(\alpha_{k}+\varepsilon\delta_{\varepsilon})s}}{|u(s,0)|}\right) \\ = -\frac{2\pi \left(\alpha_{k}+\varepsilon\delta_{\varepsilon}\right)}{\varepsilon} \left(1+\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1/4}|\log\varepsilon|^{2})\right) - i \int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \, \frac{|u(s,0)|}{u(s,0)} \partial_{s} \left(\frac{u(s,0)}{|u(s,0)|}\right), \quad (5.47)$$

where we have made use of (5.40), i.e.,

$$|u(s,0)| = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1/4} |\log \varepsilon|^2).$$
(5.48)

Now to complete the proof it remains to bound the second term on the r.h.s. of (5.47), but again by (5.48), we get

$$\left| \int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \, \frac{|u(s,0)|}{u(s,0)} \partial_s \left(\frac{u(s,0)}{|u(s,0)|} \right) \right| = \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1/4} |\log \varepsilon|^2) \right) \left| \int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}s \, \left(iu(s,0), \partial_s u(s,0) \right) \right|,$$

therefore Lemma 5.4 provides the result.

and therefore Lemma 5.4 provides the result.

Appendix Α

A.1 The one-dimensional Schrödinger operator $H_{k,\alpha}$

We start by stating standard results about the ground state of $H_{k,\alpha}$:

Proposition A.1 (Ground state of $H_{k,\alpha}$). For any given $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $k \geq 0$ and ε small enough, the operator $H_{k,\alpha}$ is positive and self-adjoint in

$$\mathscr{H} := L^2(I_{\varepsilon}, (1 - \varepsilon kt) \mathrm{d}t).$$

Its normalized ground state $\phi_{k,\alpha}$, i.e., the lowest eigenstate solving

$$H_{k,\alpha}\phi_{k,\alpha} = \mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha)\phi_{k,\alpha},\tag{A.1}$$

is unique up to the multiplication by a constant phase factor, which can be chosen in such a way that it is strictly positive. Moreover $\phi_{k,\alpha} \in C^{\infty}(I_{\varepsilon})$ and it satisfies the following bounds

$$\left\|\phi_{k,\alpha}'\right\|_{L^{\infty}(I_{\varepsilon})} \le \mathcal{O}\left(|\log\varepsilon|^{5/2}\right),\tag{A.2}$$

$$\phi_{k,\alpha}(t) \le C \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}t^2\right\},\tag{A.3}$$

for some finite constant C.

Proof. The first part of the Proposition can be proven by exploiting standard techniques of operator theory.

The bound on the derivative of $\phi_{k,\alpha}$ can be obtained by simply integrating the eigenvalue equation:

$$\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \; \partial_\eta \left[(1 - \varepsilon k\eta) \; \phi'_{k,\alpha}(\eta) \right] = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \; (1 - \varepsilon k\eta) \left(V_{k,\alpha}(\eta) - \mu_\varepsilon(k,\alpha) \right) \phi_{k,\alpha}(\eta) + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \; V_{k,\alpha}(\eta) = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \; V_{k,\alpha}(\eta) + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}$$

which yields by a trivial application of Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and normalization of $\phi_{k,\alpha}$

$$\left|\phi_{k,\alpha}'(t)\right| \leq \left[\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \, V_{k,\alpha}^2(\eta)\right]^{1/2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha)\sqrt{t},\tag{A.4}$$

and thus (A.2), via the trivial bound $|\mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha)| \leq \mathcal{O}(|\log \varepsilon|^2)$, which can be easily obtained by evaluating the energy of a normalized constant function.

The decay estimate (A.3) is proven by exploiting the resolvent of the harmonic oscillator $H^{\text{osc}} := -\partial_t^2 + t^2$ on the real line, i.e., for any $\lambda > -1$,

$$(H^{\rm osc} + \lambda)^{-1}(t; t') = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}\nu \, \frac{\nu^{2\lambda - 1/2}}{\sqrt{1 - \nu^2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{1 - \nu^2}{2(1 + \nu^2)} \left(t^2 + t'^2\right) + \frac{2\nu}{1 - \nu^2} tt'\right\}.$$
 (A.5)

To this purpose we first regularize $\phi_{k,\alpha}$ in order to associate it with a function in the domain of H^{osc} . A simple way to do that is multiply $\phi_{k,\alpha}$ by a smooth function $\chi_{\varepsilon} \leq 1$ with the following properties

$$\chi_{\varepsilon}(t) := \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } t = 0, c_0 |\log \varepsilon|, \\ 1, & \text{for } \varepsilon^{\gamma} \le t \le c_0 |\log \varepsilon| - \varepsilon^{\gamma}, \end{cases}$$
(A.6)

for some $\gamma \geq 1$, so that $\tilde{\phi} := \chi_{\varepsilon} \phi_{k,\alpha}$ is approximately normalized, i.e., $\|\tilde{\phi}\|_2 = 1 + o(1)$, and satisfies the following differential equation in I_{ε}

$$-\tilde{\phi}'' + (t+\alpha)^2 \tilde{\phi} = \mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha) \tilde{\phi} + \left[(t+\alpha)^2 - V_{k,\alpha}(t) \right] \tilde{\phi} - \frac{\varepsilon k}{1-\varepsilon t} \chi_{\varepsilon} \phi_{k,\alpha} - 2\chi_{\varepsilon}' \phi_{k,\alpha}' - \chi_{\varepsilon}'' \phi_{k,\alpha}.$$
 (A.7)

Calling $\Phi(t)$ the r.h.s. of the above expression, we can apply the resolvent of H^{osc} to get

$$\tilde{\phi}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}t' \ (H^{\mathrm{osc}})^{-1} (t, t' + \alpha) \Phi(t').$$
(A.8)

Moreover exploiting the bound on ϕ'_{α} and choosing χ_{ε} smooth enough, e.g., so that $\|\chi'_{\varepsilon}\|_{\infty} \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-\gamma})$ etc., we can apply Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to extract an upper bound to $\tilde{\phi}$ of the form (A.3), which immediately translates into an estimate for $\phi_{k,\alpha}$ thanks to (A.6).

Most of the properties of the ground state energy and wave function of $H_{k,\alpha}$ are obtained by a comparison with the shifted harmonic oscillator on the half-line with Neumann conditions at the boundary t = 0:

$$H_{\alpha}^{\text{osc}} := -\partial_t^2 + (t+\alpha)^2, \tag{A.9}$$

acting on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+, dt)$ (notice the different measure). We denote by $\mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)$ its ground state energy and refer to [FH2, Chapter 3.2] for a detailed analysis of its properties, that we briefly recall here:

$$\mu^{\text{osc}}(-\infty) = \mu^{\text{osc}}(0) = 1, \qquad \mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha) < 1, \text{ for } \alpha < 0,$$
 (A.10)

$$\mu^{\rm osc}(+\infty) = +\infty, \qquad \mu^{\rm osc}(\alpha) > 1, \quad \text{for } \alpha > 0. \tag{A.11}$$

Moreover $\mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)$ is monotonically increasing for $\alpha \geq 0$, whereas it admits a unique minimum at $-\sqrt{\Theta_0}$ given by

$$\min_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} \mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha) = \mu^{\text{osc}}\left(-\sqrt{\Theta_0}\right) = \Theta_0 < 1.$$
(A.12)

Proposition A.2 (Ground state energy $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha)$).

For any given $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, k > 0 and ε small enough, $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha)$ is smooth function of α and

$$|\mu_{\varepsilon}(k,\alpha) - \mu^{\rm osc}(\alpha)| \le \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^3). \tag{A.13}$$

Proof. It is easy to verify that $H_{k,\alpha}$ is an analytic family of operators of type (A) [RS4, Definition at p. 16]: the difference $H_{k,\alpha} - \tilde{H}_{\alpha}$, with

$$\tilde{H}_{\alpha} := -\partial_t^2 + \frac{\varepsilon k}{1 - \varepsilon k t} \partial_t + \left(t + \alpha\right)^2, \tag{A.14}$$

is indeed a bounded operator with norm $||H_{k,\alpha} - \tilde{H}_{\alpha}|| \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^3)$ (see below) and therefore $H_{k,\alpha} - \tilde{H}_{\alpha}$ is \tilde{H}_{α} -bounded. On the other hand \tilde{H}_{α} is an analytic family of operators in the sense of Kato since it is precisely the shifted harmonic operator on $L^2(I_{\varepsilon}, (1 - \varepsilon kt)dt)$. In conclusion $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha)$ is an isolated non-degenerate eigenvalue of $H_{k,\alpha}$ and thus it must be a smooth (in fact analytic) function of α .

The estimate of the difference $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha) - \mu_0(\alpha)$ is a consequence of the estimate (3.11), which implies the operator inequality $|H_{k,\alpha} - \tilde{H}_{\alpha}| \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|) \tilde{H}_{\alpha}$ and therefore $|\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha) - \mu_0(\alpha)| \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|^3)$, where $\mu_0(\alpha)$ stands for the ground state of \tilde{H}_{α} . However since \tilde{H}_{α} coincides with the shifted harmonic oscillator on $L^2(I_{\varepsilon}, (1 - \varepsilon kt) dt)$, some simple upper and lower bounds allow to conclude that $|\mu_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{k}, \alpha) - \mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)| \leq \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|)$.

Corollary A.1 (Ground state energy $\mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha)$, continued).

For any ε small enough and k > 0

$$\inf_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} \mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha) = \Theta_0 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon |\log \varepsilon|), \tag{A.15}$$

and for any b satisfying $1 < b < \Theta_0^{-1}$, there exist

$$-\infty < \underline{\alpha}_1(k,b) \le \overline{\alpha}_1(k,b) < \underline{\alpha}_2(k,b) \le \overline{\alpha}_2(k,b) < 0, \tag{A.16}$$

with $\overline{\alpha}_i - \underline{\alpha}_i = o(1)$, i = 1, 2, and $\underline{\alpha}_2 - \overline{\alpha}_1 > C(k, b) > 0$, so that

$$b^{-1} > \mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha), \qquad \text{for any } \alpha \in (\overline{\alpha}_1, \underline{\alpha}_2), \\ b^{-1} \le \mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha), \qquad \text{for any } \alpha \in (-\infty, \underline{\alpha}_1] \text{ or } \alpha \in [\overline{\alpha}_2, \infty).$$
(A.17)

Proof. All the results are simple consequence of (A.13) combined with the properties of $\mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)$ proven in [FH2, Chapter 3.2]. Note that a priori the equation $b^{-1} = \mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha)$ might have more that two solutions, unlike the equation $b^{-1} = \mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)$, which is the reason why in general $\underline{\alpha}_i \neq \overline{\alpha}_i$. The existence of the interval $(\overline{\alpha}_1, \underline{\alpha}_2)$ of size $\mathcal{O}(1)$ where $b^{-1} > \mu_{\varepsilon}(k, \alpha)$ is however implied by the properties of $\mu^{\text{osc}}(\alpha)$.

A.2 Technical estimates of the one-dimensional density profiles

We prove in this Section the pointwise upper and lower bounds to the density $f_{k,\alpha}$ minimizing the 1D functional $\mathcal{E}_{k,\alpha}^{1D}$.

Proof of Proposition 3.3. Although similar arguments are used very often in literature (see, e.g., [CPRY3]), we discuss them in details for the sake of completeness. Throughout the proof we use the conditions $b \in (1, \Theta_0^{-1})$ and $\alpha \in (\overline{\alpha}_2, \underline{\alpha}_1)$, which guarantee the positivity of $f_{k,\alpha}$ via Corollary 3.1.

Both bounds are essentially consequences of the maximum principle but, in order to make any comparison possible, we first have to extend the density $f_{k,\alpha}$ to a smooth function \tilde{f} on the whole semi-axis \mathbb{R}^+ , in such a way that a differential inequality is still satisfied, namely

$$-\tilde{f}'' + \frac{\varepsilon k}{1 - \varepsilon k t} f' + V_{\varepsilon,\alpha} f \ge \frac{1}{b} (1 - \tilde{f}^2) \tilde{f}$$

In other words \tilde{f} must be a weak supersolution to the variational equation (3.12). This is of course doable in several ways but for the sake of clarity we propose here an explicit C^2 -continuation of $f_{k,\alpha}$: it suffices to set for some a > 0 and any $t \ge t_{\varepsilon}$

$$\tilde{f}(t) := \left(f(t_{\varepsilon}) + a(t - t_{\varepsilon})^2 \right) \exp\left\{ -\frac{1}{2} \left(t - t_{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \right\},\tag{A.18}$$

and notice that

$$\tilde{f}(t_{\varepsilon}) = f_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon}), \qquad \tilde{f}'(t_{\varepsilon}) = 0 = f'_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon}).$$

thanks to Neumann boundary conditions. Moreover it is easy to verify that by picking

$$a = \frac{1}{2} \left[V_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{b} \left(1 - f_{k,\alpha}^2(t_{\varepsilon}) \right) + 1 \right] f_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon}), \tag{A.19}$$

one also has

$$\tilde{f}''(t_{\varepsilon}) = f_{k,\alpha}''(t_{\varepsilon}),$$

i.e., $\tilde{f} \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$.

Let us now discuss the lower bound. We introduce the function

$$w(t) := f_{k,\alpha}(0) \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\left(t + \sqrt{2}\right)^2\right\},$$
(A.20)

and note that

$$w(0) < f_{k,\alpha}(0), \qquad \lim_{t \to \infty} w(t) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \tilde{f}(t) = 0.$$
(A.21)

Moreover setting

$$u(t) := w(t) - \tilde{f}(t), \tag{A.22}$$

we have

$$-u'' + \left[\left(t + \sqrt{2}\right)^2 - 1 \right] u \\ = \begin{cases} \frac{\varepsilon k}{1 - \varepsilon k t} f'_{k,\alpha} + \left[V_{k,\alpha}(t) - \left(t + \sqrt{2}\right)^2 + 1 - \frac{1}{b}(1 - f_{k,\alpha}^2) \right] f_{k,\alpha}, & \text{if } t \in [0, t_{\varepsilon}], \\ \left\{ - \left(t + \sqrt{2}\right)^2 + \left(t - t_{\varepsilon}\right)^2 + \frac{2a[1 - 2(t - t_{\varepsilon})]}{f_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon}) + a(t - t_{\varepsilon})^2} \right\} \tilde{f}, & \text{if } t \ge t_{\varepsilon}. \end{cases}$$
(A.23)

Now for $t \leq t_{\varepsilon}$ we exploit next Lemma A.1, which combined with the fact that $f_{k,\alpha}$ is decreasing for $t \geq \max[0, -\alpha + \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)]$ (Proposition 3.1) yields that $f'_{k,\alpha} \leq Cf_{k,\alpha}$ for some finite C: for finite t, (A.28) should be used in combination with (3.26), implying $|f'_{k,\alpha}| \leq C' \leq Cf_{k,\alpha}$. For

 $t \geq \max[0, -\alpha + \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)], f'_{k,\alpha}$ is negative and the inequality holds true with any positive constant. Hence we get for $t \in [0, t_{\varepsilon}]$ (recall that $\alpha \leq 0$)

$$\frac{\varepsilon k}{1-\varepsilon kt}f'_{k,\alpha} + \left[V_{k,\alpha}(t) - \left(t+\sqrt{2}\right)^2 + 1 - \frac{1}{b}(1-f^2_{k,\alpha})\right]f_{k,\alpha}$$

$$\leq \left[-2\left(\sqrt{2}-\alpha\right)t - 2 + \alpha^2 + 1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)\right]f_{k,\alpha} \leq 0, \quad (A.24)$$

while for $t > t_{\varepsilon}$

$$-\left(t+\sqrt{2}\right)^{2}+\left(t-t_{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}+\frac{2a[1-2(t-t_{\varepsilon})]}{f_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon})+a\left(t-t_{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}}\leq-2\left(\sqrt{2}-t_{\varepsilon}\right)t-1+t_{\varepsilon}^{2}+\frac{1}{2}V_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon})\\\leq-\frac{1}{2}t_{\varepsilon}^{2}\left(1+\mathcal{O}(|\log\varepsilon|^{-1})\right)\leq0,\quad(A.25)$$

where we have used that $0 \le a \le \frac{1}{2} [V_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon}) + 1] f_{k,\alpha}(t_{\varepsilon})$ by (A.19). Putting together (A.24) and (A.25) with (A.23), we obtain

$$-u'' \le -\left[\left(t + \sqrt{2}\right)^2 - 1\right]u \le -u,$$
 (A.26)

so that u is subharmonic where u > 0, but then in that region u should reach its maximum value at the boundary, where u = 0 (recall that $u \leq 0$ at $t = 0, \infty$). Hence the region must be empty and $u \leq 0$ everywhere. To conclude the proof is then sufficient to use the strict positivity of $f_{k,\alpha}$ at the origin, since it is the ground state of a 1D Schrödinger operator⁸.

For the upper bound proof we proceed in the same way by showing that W(t) := $C \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(t+\alpha)^2\right\}$ is a supersolution for a large enough constant C: denoting again by U(t)the difference $W(t) - \tilde{f}(t)$, one has (making use of (A.28))

$$-U'' \ge -\left[(t+\alpha)^2 - 1\right]U \ge -U,$$
(A.27)

if $t \ge |\alpha| + \sqrt{2}$. Now if the constant C is taken so that $u(|\alpha| + \sqrt{2}) \ge 0$, which can always be done since $f_{k,\alpha} \le 1$, then by a superharmonicity argument one can conclude that $U \ge 0$ in the whole region $t \ge |\alpha| + \sqrt{2}$. The estimate then easily extends to the region $t \le |\alpha| + \sqrt{2}$, where $W \ge 1$.

We conclude the section with a technical estimate on the derivative of $f_{k,\alpha}$:

Lemma A.1 (Gradient bounds for $f_{k,\alpha}$). For any $b \in (1, \Theta_0^{-1})$, $\alpha \in (\overline{\alpha}_2, \underline{\alpha}_1)$, k > 0 and $\varepsilon \ll 1$, there exists a finite constant C such that

$$|f'_{k,\alpha}(t)| \le C \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } t \in \left[0, |\alpha| + \frac{2}{\sqrt{b}}\right], \\ |\log \varepsilon|^3 f_{k,\alpha}(t), & \text{for } t \in \left[|\alpha| + \frac{2}{\sqrt{b}}, c_0|\log \varepsilon|\right]. \end{cases}$$
(A.28)

In the case k = 0 and $\varepsilon = 0$, the above estimates become

$$\left|f_{0,\alpha}'(t)\right| \le C \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } t \in \left[0, |\alpha| + \frac{2}{\sqrt{b}}\right], \\ t(t+\alpha)^2 f_{0,\alpha}(t), & \text{for } t \ge |\alpha| + \frac{2}{\sqrt{b}}. \end{cases}$$
(A.29)

⁸One should actually show that there exists a constant C > 0 independent of ε such that $f_{k,\alpha}(0) \geq C$. This is not a straightforward consequence of $f_{k,\alpha}$ being a ground state, since its value at the origin might depend on ε . However a pointwise estimate of the difference between $f_{k,\alpha}$ and the minimizer of $\mathcal{E}_{0,\alpha}^{1D}$ with $\varepsilon = 0$ can be easily derived, showing that the two functions differ by o(1). This in turn yields the desired estimate. We omit further details for the sake of brevity.

Proof. The result can be easily obtained by integrating the variational equation (3.12):

$$-\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon kt}\partial_t \left[(1-\varepsilon kt)f'_{k,\alpha} \right] + V_{k,\alpha}f_{k,\alpha} = \frac{1}{b}(1-f^2_{k,\alpha})f_{k,\alpha},$$

which alternatively yields (thanks to Neumann boundary conditions)

$$-(1-\varepsilon kt)f'_{k,\alpha}(t) = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\eta \,(1-\varepsilon k\eta) \left[\frac{1}{b}(1-f_{k,\alpha}^2) - V_{k,\alpha}(\eta)\right] f_{k,\alpha},\tag{A.30}$$

$$(1 - \varepsilon kt)f'_{k,\alpha}(t) = \int_t^{t_\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}\eta \ (1 - \varepsilon k\eta) \left[\frac{1}{b}(1 - f_{k,\alpha}^2) - V_{k,\alpha}(\eta)\right] f_{k,\alpha}.$$
 (A.31)

By taking the absolute value of the first identity for any finite t and exploiting that $|f_{k,\alpha}| \leq 1$, we get the first inequality. On the other hand for $t \geq |\alpha| + \frac{2}{\sqrt{b}}$, $V_{k,\alpha} \geq \frac{1}{b}$ so that the r.h.s. of the second identity is negative, which in particular implies that $f_{k,\alpha}$ is decreasing there, i.e., $f_{k,\alpha}(\eta) \leq f_{k,\alpha}(t)$ for any $\eta \geq t$. Taking again the absolute value of both sides and estimating roughly η in the integral with its maximum value, i.e., t_{ε} , we then obtain the second estimate.

The result in the case k = 0 and $\varepsilon = 0$ can be obtained exactly in the same way.

References

- [Abr] A. ABRIKOSOV, On the magnetic properties of superconductors of the second type, Soviet Phys. JETP 5, 1174–1182 (1957).
- [Alm] Y. ALMOG, Nonlinear Surface Superconductivity in the Large κ Limit, *Rev. Math. Phys.* **16**, 961–976 (2004).
- [AH] Y. ALMOG, B. HELFFER, The Distribution of Surface Superconductivity along the Boundary: on a Conjecture of X.B. Pan, *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* **38**, 1715–1732 (2007).
- [BCS] J. BARDEEN, L. COOPER, J. SCHRIEFFER, Theory of Superconductivity, Phys. Rev. 108, 1175–1204 (1957).
- [BBH] F. BÉTHUEL, H. BRÉZIS, F. HÉLEIN, Asymptotics for the Minimization of a Ginzburg-Landau Functional, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 1, 123–148 (1993).
- [BBH2] F. BÉTHUEL, H. BRÉZIS, F. HÉLEIN, Ginzburg-Landau Vortices, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications 13, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1994.
- [CPRY1] M. CORREGGI, F. PINSKER, N. ROUGERIE, J. YNGVASON, Critical Rotational Speeds in the Gross-Pitaevskii Theory on a Disc with Dirichlet Boundary Conditions, J. Stat. Phys. 143, 261–305 (2011).
- [CPRY2] M. CORREGGI, F. PINSKER, N. ROUGERIE, J. YNGVASON, Rotating Superfluids in Anharmonic Traps: From Vortex Lattices to Giant Vortices, *Phys. Rev. A* 84, 053614 (2011).
- [CPRY3] M. CORREGGI, F. PINSKER, N. ROUGERIE, J. YNGVASON, Critical Rotational Speeds for Superfluids in Homogeneous Traps, J. Math. Phys. 53, 095203 (2012).
- [CPRY4] M. CORREGGI, F. PINSKER, N. ROUGERIE, J. YNGVASON, Giant vortex phase transition in rapidly rotating trapped Bose-Einstein condensates, *Eur. J. Phys. Special Topics* 217, 183–188 (2013).

- [CPRY5] M. CORREGGI, F. PINSKER, N. ROUGERIE, J. YNGVASON, Vortex Phases of Rotating Superfluids, Proceedings of the 21st International Laser Physics Workshop, Calgary, July 23-27, (2012).
- [CR] M. CORREGGI, N. ROUGERIE, Inhomogeneous Vortex Patterns in Rotating Bose-Einstein Condensates, Commun. Math. Phys. 321, 817–860 (2013).
- [CRY] M. CORREGGI, N. ROUGERIE, J. YNGVASON, The Transition to a Giant Vortex Phase in a Fast Rotating Bose-Einstein Condensate, *Commun. Math. Phys.* 303, 451–508 (2011).
- [FH1] S. FOURNAIS, B. HELFFER, Energy asymptotics for type II superconductors, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 24, 341–376 (2005).
- [FH2] S. FOURNAIS, B. HELFFER, Spectral Methods in Surface Superconductivity, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications 77, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2010.
- [FHP] S. FOURNAIS, B. HELFFER, M. PERSSON, Superconductivity between H_{c_2} and H_{c_3} , J. Spectr. Theory 1, 273–298 (2011).
- [FK] S. FOURNAIS, A. KACHMAR, Nucleation of bulk superconductivity close to critical magnetic field, Adv. Math. 226, 1213–1258 (2011).
- [FHSS] R.L. FRANK, C. HAINZL, R. SEIRINGER, J.P. SOLOVEJ, Microscopic Derivation of Ginzburg-Landau Theory, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 25, 667–713 (2012).
- [GL] V.L. GINZBURG, L.D. LANDAU, On the theory of superconductivity, *Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.* **20**, 1064–1082 (1950).
- [Gor] L.P. GOR'KOV, Microscopic derivation of the Ginzburg-Landau equations in the theory of superconductivity, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 36, 1918–1923 (1959); english translation Soviet Phys. JETP 9, 1364–1367 (1959).
- [H et al] H. F. HESS, R. B. ROBINSON, R. C. DYNES, J. M. VALLES JR., J. V. WASZCZAK, Scanning-Tunneling-Microscope Observation of the Abrikosov Flux Lattice and the Density of States near and inside a Fluxoid, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 62, 214 (1989).
- [Kac] A. KACHMAR, The Ginzburg-Landau order parameter near the second critical field, preprint *arXiv:1308.4236* (2013).
- [Le] A.J. LEGGETT, Quantum Liquids, Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 2006.
- [LM] L. LASSOUED, P. MIRONESCU, Ginzburg-Landau Type Energy with Discontinuous Constraint, J. Anal. Math. 77, 1–26 (1999).
- [LL] E.H. LIEB, M. LOSS, Analysis, Graduate Studies in Mathematics 14, AMS, Providence, 1997.
- [LP] K. LU, X.B. PAN, Estimates of the upper critical field for the Ginzburg-Landau equations of superconductivity, *Physica D* **127**, 73–104 (1999).
- [N et al] Y.X. NING, C.L. SONG, Z.L. GUAN, X.C. MA, X. CHEN, J.F. JIA, Q.K. XUE, Observation of surface superconductivity and direct vortex imaging of a Pb thin island with a scanning tunneling microscope, *Europhys. Lett.* **85**, 27004 (2009).
- [Pan] X. B. PAN, Surface Superconductivity in Applied Magnetic Fields above H_{c2}, Commun. Math. Phys. 228, 327–370 (2002).

- [R1] N. ROUGERIE, The Giant Vortex State for a Bose-Einstein Condensate in a Rotating Anharmonic Trap: Extreme Rotation Regimes, J. Math. Pures Appl. 95, 296–347 (2011).
- [R2] N. ROUGERIE, Vortex Rings in Fast Rotating Bose-Einstein Condensates, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 203, 69–135 (2012).
- [RS4] M. REED, B. SIMON, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. Vol IV: Analysis of Operators, Academic Press, San Diego, 1975.
- [SS] E. SANDIER, S. SERFATY, Vortices in the Magnetic Ginzburg-Landau Model, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications 70, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2007.
- [Sig] I.M. SIGAL, Magnetic Vortices, Abrikosov Lattices and Automorphic Functions, preprint *arXiv:1308.5446* (2013).
- [SJdG] D. SAINT-JAMES, P.G. DE GENNES, Onset of superconductivity in decreasing fields, *Phys. Lett.* 7, 306–308 (1963).
- [S et al] M. STRONGIN, A. PASKIN, D.G. SCHWEITZER, O.F. KAMMERER, P.P. CRAIG, Surface Superconductivity in Type I and Type II Superconductors, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 12, 442–444 (1964).
- [Ti] M. TINKHAM, Introduction to Superconductivity, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1975.